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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
2008 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

PART I

Iltem 1. Business
Overview

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,”s;t “our” and words of similar import) is a growtriented independent ene
company engaged in the acquisition, exploratioplatation and development of oil and natural gegpprties. Prior to March 20, 2007,
name was “Kentex Petroleum, Inca”Nevada corporation incorporated on October 5620the Company took its present form on Marct
2007, when Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (“Northerr@)Nevada corporation engaged in the Compaaytrent business, merged with and
our subsidiary, with Northern remaining as the sting corporation (as more fully discussed belomporthern then merged into us, and
were the surviving corporation. We then changedrmame to Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. Referencedenteerein to “Kentextefer to thi
Company'’s status and operations prior to March2p0,/.

The Company was originally organized under the laWthe State of Nevada on February 10, 1983, wadly for the purpose
engaging in any lawful activity. On or about Jaryua8, 2006, Kentex received notification that tNASD had approved the Form =
application for addition to the OTC Bulletin Boardder the ticker symbol “KNTX”, effective Januarg,12006.

On March 20, 2007, Kentex acquired Northern, purstma merger by and among us, Kentex Acquisi@omnp., a Nevada corporati
and our wholly owned subsidiary (the “Merger Sulaid Northern. Kentex Acquisition Corp. merged vétid into Northern, with Northern
the surviving corporation (the “Merger”)Ve issued 21,173,013 shares of our common stoekdhange for 100% of the outstanding shar
Northern. Upon closing of the Merger, the formerckholders of Northern thereafter controlled apprately 94% of our outstanding she
of common stock. Immediately following the Mergtre Company completed a so-called slionta Merger with Northern, in which Northe
merged into the Company, and the Company was théving entity. As a part of this shoftrm Merger, the Company changed its nan
“Northern QOil and Gas, Inc”As a result of the Merger, Northern was deemecktthke acquiring company for financial reportinggnses ar
the transaction has been accounted for as a remagger. The financial statements presented ifCrapany’s December 31, 2006, Form
KSB report were the historical financial statemeasft&entex Petroleum, Inc, the predecessor comp#muditional material terms of the Mery
are detailed in the Company’s Current Report omF8¢K filed with the Securities and Exchange Consiois (the “SEC”)on December 1
2006.

On March 17, 2008 the Company received an appietiar to begin trading on the American Stock Exde (the “AMEX"). Our
common stock commenced trading on the AMEX on M&@h2008 under the symbol “NOG.”

Following the Merger, our main business focus heentdirected to oil and gas exploration and devetog. Unless specifically sta
otherwise, our primary operations are now thosmésly operated by Northern as well as other busiaesivities since March, 2007.

Business

We are a growtloriented independent energy company engaged iadipaisition, exploration, exploitation and develamnof oil an
natural gas properties, and have focused our desvprimarily on projects based in the Rocky MaimtRegion of the United Stat
specifically the Williston Basin. We believe tha¢ are able to create value via strategic acreageisitions and convert that value or por
thereof into production by utilizing experiencedliistry partners specializing in the specific arefsnterest. We have targeted spes
prospects and began drilling for oil in the WilistBasin region in the fourth fiscal quarter of 20(As of March
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16, 2009, we had completed 46 successful discaer@nsisting of 43 targeting the Bakken/Three Edokmation and three target
a Red River Structure.

As an exploration company, our business strategto iglentify and exploit resources that can be kjyideveloped and put
production at low cost and are both repeatablesaathble. We also intend to take advantage otgpertise in aggressive land acquisitio
develop exploratory projects with extremely attraeigrowth potential in focus areas and to paréitgpwith other companies in those are:
explore for oil and natural gas using state-ofdhtethree-dimensional (B) seismic technology. We believe our competitivantage lies
our ability to acquire property in the most exditinew plays in a nimble and efficient fashion. We focused on low overhead. We bel
we are in a position to most efficiently exploitdaidentify high production oil and gas properti&e intend to continue to carefully pursue
acquisition of properties that fit our profile.

Because we did not commence drilling activitiesiuhe fourth fiscal quarter of 2007, we did notfeem any reservoir engineeri
calculations in the 2007 fiscal year. Although began oil production in the fourth fiscal quartér2007, we did not receive paymeni
recognize revenue from sales in the 2007 fiscal.y@a such, we first began to recognize revenamfour oil and gas operations in 2008s
such, many metrics of comparison from 2007 to 28@8not applicable.

Reserves

We completed our initial reservoir engineering aitons in the first fiscal quarter of 2008 andmgdeted our most recent resen
engineering calculation in February 2009. Our y&at calculations take into consideration the dgwelent of approximately 1.5% of our tc
drillable acreage inventory. The table below sunipesr our estimated proved reserves by core areaf &ecember 31, 2008, and
December 2008 average daily production. The vafumur reserves is calculated by determining thes@nt value of estimated future rever
to be generated from the production of proved resecalculated in accordance with SEC guidelinesphestimated lease operating expel
production taxes and future development costsachordance with SEC regulations, our reserve regues our production based upon
$38.60 price of oil on December 31, 2008. Qil psihave increased and we have added significadtiption since December 31, 2008.
table below uses price and costs without futurealesion, without giving effect to noproperty related expenses such as geners
administrative expenses, debt service and depi@tjadepletion and amortization, or Federal incdmpees, and discounted using an an
discount rate of 10%. The values below are gelyeraferred to in our industry as the “Pre-tax P¥@0values of our reserves and may
considered a non-GAAP financial measure as defiyetthe SEC.

Proved Reserves?

Pre-Tax PV10%  pecember 2008 Averac

Core Area oil @ Natural Gas Total value ® Daily Production

(barrels) ( cubic feet) ( barrels of oil ('barrels per day)
equivalent)

North Dakotz 664,923 205,492 699,172 $ 10,785,58 42C

Montana 62,742 10,959 64,569 1,000,46 40

Total 727,66! 216,45: 763,74. $ 11,768,05 46C

@ Oil and gas reserve gquantities and related diseaufuture net cash flows have been derived frorami gas prices as of December 31,

2008, including the effect of dirrerentials, punsut current SEC and FASB guidelin
©) Oil includes natural gas liquid
® Pre-tax PV10% may be considered a @RAP financial measure as defined by the SEC anmtbis/ed from the standardized mea:

of discounted future net cash flows, which is thestdirectly comparable GAAP financial measuree-8x PV10% is computed on
same basis as the standardized measure of disdofumtee net cash flows but without deducting fetimcome taxes. We believe pre-
tax PV10% is a useful measure for investors foluatang the relative monetary significance of oilramd natural gas properties. '
further believe investors may utilize our gee- PV10% as a basis for comparison of the relatize and value of our reserves to ¢
companies because many factors that are uniguactoiadividual company impact the amount of futineome taxes to be paid. (
management uses this measure when assessing tbetigotreturn on investment related to our oil agas properties al
acquisitions. However, pre-tax PV10% is not a &tulie for the standardized measure of discountéuaré net cash flows. Our ptax
PV10% and the standardized measure of discountedefuet cash flows do not purport to present #ievialue of our oil and natul
gas reserve:

The daily production data provided in the foregoiable does not reflect substantial improved prtidacdfrom well completions ar
increased flow rates on existing wells since Decamfil, 2008. We believe that production from émgstwells in December 2008 w
intentionally choked back by several operatorseisponse to commodity price decreases and wintspseselling differentials. Our aver:
daily production as of March 13, 2009, was apprataty 850 net barrels of oil per day, reflectingliidnal well completions and increa:
flow rates from pre-existing wells despite reseitflow rates from certain of our wells.

Our reserve report does not account for any valymotential reserves relating to any acreage ngestito drilling activities, such
our New York acreage and any undeveloped acreadith Dakota or Montana. Further, our reserveoregdid not indicate any significe



guantities of natural gas present in any wellslidglor completed as of December 31, 2008. We hdeeted not to complete
assessment of proven undeveloped locations (“PURlsthis time due to the rapid increase in drillagjacent to and in our acreage units.
intend to complete a reserve report including PUBY the end of the second quarter of 2009, atiwtiice we believe we will be able to obt
a more accurate PUB'estimation. Estimates of ultimate recovery fraun Bakken wells have ranged from 350,000 to ov@0@,000 barre
of oil. Our current acreage position will allow tesdrill up to 110 net wells based on 640-acrespaunits.

Recent Developments

During the 2008 fiscal year, we continued to foous operations on acquiring leaseholds and drilérpgloratory and developmer
wells primarily in the Rocky Mountain Region of thénited States. We acquired approximately 50,08@itenal net acres during 20!
primarily in Mountrail and Dunn Counties of NortrekKota but also in Burke, Divide and other countiédlorth Dakota. As of December !
2008, 36 gross wells had been completed in whiclhaeean interest. Our principal assets continugettocated in the Williston Basiegior
of the northern United States and Yates Countyw Merk , and included the following primary posit®as of December 31, 2008:

= A pproximately 30,000 net acres located in Mouht€aiunty North Dakota, within and surrounding to the nortluth and we:
the Parshall Field currently being developed by BR&Sources and others to target the Bakken

= Approximately 25,000 net acres located in Dunmi@p , North Dakota in which we are targeting the Bakken Shale anbé
Forks/Sanish formation

= Approximately 22,000 net acres located in SheriGaninty, Montanarepresenting a stacked pay prospect over which ave
significant proprietary -D seismic data
= Approximately 10,000 net acrelocated in Burke anDivide Countiesof North Dakots, targeting the Bakken Shale and Ti

Forks/Sanish formations near significant drillirdiaties by Marathon Oil Corporatiol

= Approximately 10,000 net acres located in “Finger Lake” region of Yates County, New York, in which we asggetin(
natural gas production from the Trenton/Black Riwarcellus and (ueenstow-Medina formations; an




Approximately 5,000 net acres located in McKen¥i@Jiams and Mercer Counties North Dakota, in whigé are targeting the
Bakken Shale.

In addition to purchasing interests in oil, gas anitheral leases with the intention of increasing aareage positions in desi
prospects, during fiscal year 2008 we also utiliZfarm-in” arrangements whereby we purchase oil, gas and ahileases under specific we
that are drilling or expected to drill in short erdwhile allowing the assignee of such rightsetiain an overriding royalty interest a working
interest that converts at pay-out in the relateatipction. Recent declines in crude oil processehaade farm-in arrangements more cost-
effective to our company as an acquirer.

A complete discussion of our significant acquisiiaduring the past two years is included underhéseding “Properties Acreagt
Acquisitions” in Item 2 of this report

Production Methods

We primarily engage in oil and gas exploration gmdduction through participating on a “heads-up%ibaalongside thirgharty
interests in wells drilled and completed in spaaimits that include our acreage. We typically depen drilling partners to propose, pel
and initiate the drilling of wells. Prior to commazng drilling, our partners are required to pravil owners of oil, gas and mineral inter
within the designated spacing unit the opportutatparticipate in the drilling costs and revenugthe well to the extent of their pmata shar
of such interest within the spacing unit. In tf® fiscal year, we participated in the drillingalf wells that included any of our acreage.
will assess each drilling opportunity on a casechye basis going forward and participate in wéitg tve expect to be economically feas
based upon our estimates of ultimate recoverablnadigas from each project, as well as other facto

The Company may utilize experienced drilling aneérmping partners through formal “farm-owtyreements in which we contrib
our leasehold interests in exchange for workingriggts in wells drilled on the Compasydcreage, while a drilling partner funds the ithg
and operation of the actual well. Pursuant to¢harsangements, our partners will provide the digerequipment and a significant portiol
the capital required to drill wells on our acreadfowever we generally intend to participate in ¢m#ling of wells including our acreage ol
“heads-up” basis commensurate with our workingrizge

We also have utilized “farm-inarrangements whereby we would purchase oil, gasv@ndral leases under specific wells that \
drilling or expected to drill in short order, whildlowing the assignee of such rights to retainomarriding royalty interest in the rela
production. In some cases t hese farm-in arraegéms have become more cesfective to acquire as crude oil prices have dediand th
owners of oil, gas and mineral rights desire totipigiate in drilling wells less aggressively. Fammarrangements allow us to ensure
accelerated return on capital by deploying our &itijon budget to acreage that is expected to ple@piroduction in the very near future.

We do not manage our commodities marketing aaiwitnternally, but our operating partners genenalyket and sell oil and natu
gas produced from wells in which we have an inter@r operating partners coordinate the tranggiort of our oil production from our we
to appropriate pipelines pursuant to arrangemdratissuich partners negotiate and maintain with uarjgarties purchasing the production.
understand that our partners generally sell oudyetion to a variety of purchasers at prevailingkeaprices under separately negotiated short
term contracts. The price at which productionolsl generally is tied to the spot market for craede Williston Basin Light Sweet Crude frc
the Bakken source rock is generally 424 -API oil and is readily accepted into the pipelinfrastructure at a price proximal to West T¢
Immediate spot price.




Proved Reserves

Our estimated proved reserves as of December 3B, 20e summarized in the table below based upesave report prepared in
February 2009 by Ryder Scott Company, LP. Our kadyr2009 reserve report did not include an ansiysour Proved Undeveloped
Properties.

Total
Qil Natural Gas (barrels of oll % of Total Future Capital

(barrels) (cubic feet) equivalent) Proved Expenditures
North Dakota
PDP® 418,67 104,866 436,15 57% $ 3,272,58
PDNP® 246,25( 100,626 263,02: 34% 3,326,23
Total Proved 664,92 205, 492 699,17 91% $ 6,598,81
Montana:
PDP 62,74: 10,959 64,56¢ 9% 814,54
PDNP - - - - -
Total Proved 727,66! 216,451 763,74: 10Coy, $ 7,413,35
@ "PDF’ consists of our proved developed producing rese
©) "PDNP” consists of our proved developed nonprodyceserves.
Competition

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely cotitipe, and we compete with numerous other oil gad exploration and product
companies. Many of these companies have subdtargi@ater resources than we have. Not only dry texplore for and produce oil ¢
natural gas, but many also carry on midstream afidimg operations and market petroleum and othedyxts on a regional, national
worldwide basis. The operations of other companiey be able to pay more for exploratory prospecid productive oil and natural ¢
properties. They may also have more resourcesefina] evaluate, bid for and purchase a greaterbeurof properties and prospects than
financial or human resources permit.

Our larger or integrated competitors may have #seurces to be better able to absorb the burderisting, and any changes to fede
state, and local laws and regulations more eakdy we can, which would adversely affect our coitigetposition. Our ability to discov
reserves and acquire additional properties in tiheré will be dependent upon our ability and researto evaluate and select suitable propt
and to consummate transactions in this highly cditiype environment. In addition, we may be at aadivantage in producing oil and nat
gas properties and bidding for exploratory prospebecause we have fewer financial and human ressuhan other companies in
industry. Should a larger and better financed amypecide to directly compete with us, and be esgful in its efforts, our business coulc
adversely affected.

Marketing and Customers

The market for oil and natural gas that we will gioe depends on factors beyond our control, inofudhe extent of domes
production and imports of oil and natural gas, gheximity and capacity of natural gas pipelines atiter transportation facilities, demand
oil and natural gas, the marketing of competitivel§ and the effects of state and federal regulatithe oil and gas industry also comp
with other industries in supplying the energy amel fequirements of industrial, commercial andvidlial consumers.




Our oil production is expected to be sold at pribed to the spot oil markets. Our natural gasipobion is expected to be sold under slierr
contracts and priced based on first of the mondlexrprices or on daily spot market prices. We gglyour operating partners to market and
our production.

Principal Agreements Affecting Our Ordinary Business

The Company does not own any physical real edbatie,instead, our acreage is comprised of leasehtédests subject to the ter
and provisions of lease agreements that provid€tmpany the right to drill and maintain wells jpesific geographic areas. All of our le
arrangements that comprise our acreage positi@established using industsyandard terms that have been established andieedia th
oil and gas industry for many years, and many ofleases were acquired from other parties thatimédethe original leasehold interest pria
our acquisition.

In general, our lease agreements stipulate five tggms with minimum net revenue interests. Bonasesroyalty payments are mi
on a case-by-case basis consistent with industndstd pricing. Once a well is drilled and prodoetestablished, the well is considerédxelt
by production,"meaning the lease continues as long as oil is l@ioguced. Other locations within the drilling uoieated for a well may al
be drilled at any time with no time limit as long the lease is held by production. The vast mtgjofi our North Dakota leases have over
years remaining on the terms. We have very fewelgavith less than three years remaining in Nodkdia. In Montana and New York
generally have 30 months to three years remainmguo leases, with very few exceptions. We belithat given the pace of drilling in t
recent period there should be very few, if anytanses in which we are unable to accomplish thdsgafaour drilling program due to tir
constraints on the leases

Some of our acreage is subject to joint venture @niling agreements, and we expect that we wilhtgwue to evaluate potent
partners and arrangements to develop our positidhs. provisions of each relationship are and Wwél subject to separately negotit
arrangements. We do not rely on any material patérademarks, licenses, franchises, labor castiacother similar arrangements during
ordinary course of business.

Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to various rules, regumsa and limitations impacting the oil and natugals exploration and product
industry as whole.

Regulation of Oil and Natural Gas Producti

Our oil and natural gas exploration, production agldted operations, when developed, are subjeektnsive rules and regulatic
promulgated by federal, state, tribal and locahatities and agencies. For example, some statediich we may operate require permits
drilling operations, drilling bonds and reports ceming operations and impose other requiremetdsirg to the exploration and productior
oil and natural gas. Such states may also haugteseor regulations addressing conservation nsattecluding provisions for the unitization
pooling of oil and natural gas properties, the lihment of maximum rates of production from we#lad the regulation of spacing, plugc
and abandonment of such wells. Failure to comptl any such rules and regulations can result bstantial penalties. The regulatory but
on the oil and gas industry will most likely incseaour cost of doing business and may affect oafitability. Although we believe we &
currently in substantial compliance with all applite laws and regulations, because such rules eguations are frequently amendec
reinterpreted, we are unable to predict the futost or impact of complying with such laws. Sigraht expenditures may be requiret
comply with governmental laws and regulations amy imave a material adverse effect on our finare@atition and results of operations.

Environmental Matter

Our operations and properties are subject to extenand changing federal, state and local laws esgllations relating -
environmental protection, including the generatistorage, handling, emission, transportation asdhdirge of materials into the environm
and relating to safety and health. The recentdtienenvironmental legislation and regulation gafgris toward stricter standards, and
trend will likely continue. These laws and regigas may:




= require the acquisition of a permit or other auittetion before construction or drilling commencesl or certain other activitie!
= limit or prohibit construction, drilling and othactivities on certain lands lying within wildernessd other protected areas; ¢
= impose substantial liabilities for pollution resng from its operations

The permits required for our operations may beentltp revocation, modification and renewal by iisglauthorities. Governmen
authorities have the power to enforce their regamat and violations are subject to fines or injiorts, or both. In the opinion of managem
we are in substantial compliance with current agatlle environmental laws and regulations, and hevenaterial commitments for cap
expenditures to comply with existing environmenmtuirements. Nevertheless, changes in existinga@mmental laws and regulations ol
interpretations thereof could have a significanpatt on the Company, as well as the oil and nagaslindustry in general.

The Comprehensive Environmental, Response, Compiensand Liability Act (“CERCLA”) and comparable state statutes im
strict, joint and several liability on owners anplecators of sites and on persons who disposed afranged for the disposal ofidzardou
substancesfound at such sites. It is not uncommon for thigimeoring landowners and other third parties te élaims for personal injury a
property damage allegedly caused by the hazarddistaces released into the environment. The BeResource Conservation and Reco
Act (“RCRA") and comparable state statutes govdra disposal of “solid waste” and “hazardous wastell authorize the imposition
substantial fines and penalties for noncompliarskhough CERCLA currently excludes petroleum froitls definition of ‘hazardou
substance,” state laws affecting our operations imgpse clearup liability relating to petroleum and petroleunfated products. In additic
although RCRA classifies certain oil field wastes'maon-hazardous,Such exploration and production wastes could blassified as hazardc
wastes thereby making such wastes subject to nimgent handling and disposal requirements.

The Endangered Species Act ("ESA8eks to ensure that activities do not jeopardiztaegered or threatened animal, fish and
species, nor destroy or modify the critical habd&tsuch species. Under ESA, exploration and prtdo operations, as well as actions
federal agencies, may not significantly impair @opardize the species or its habitat. ESA providesriminal penalties for willful violatior
of the Act. Other statutes that provide protecttonanimal and plant species and that may applpuio operations include, but are
necessarily limited to, the Fish and Wildlife Coioition Act, the Fishery Conservation and Managenden, the Migratory Bird Treaty A
and the National Historic Preservation Act. Altbuwe believe that our operations will be in subs#h compliance with such statutes,
change in these statutes or any reclassificatioa species as endangered could subject the Compasignificant expenses to modify
operations or could force the Company to discorticertain operations altogether.

Employees

The Company currently has five full time employe&ur Chief Executive Officer—Michael Regeerd our Chief Financi
Officer—Ryan Gilbertson—are responsible for all eré&l policy-making decisions, and are assistetheénimplementation of the Company’
business by our Vice President of Operations amdGmneral Counsel. All employees have enteredwritien employment agreements v
the Company. As drilling production activities tioie to increase, we may hire additional techniepkrational or administrative personne
appropriate. We do not expect a significant chainghe number of full time employees over the ngktmonths, assuming our currently-
projected drilling plan. We are using and will tione to use the services of independent consgltantd contractors to perform vari
professional services, particularly in the aredaofil services, reservoir engineering, drilling, evétauling, pipeline construction, well des
well-site monitoring and surveillance, permittingdaenvironmental assessment. We believe thatudesof thirdparty service providers m
enhance our ability to contain general and adnratise expenses.




Office Locations

Our executive offices are located at 315 Manitolvare, Suite 200, Wayzata, Minnesota 55391. COfizeo$pace consists of 3,(
square feet leased pursuant to a freer office lease agreement that commenced in Beppr2008. We believe our current office spac
sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseealiigréu

Financial Information about Segments and Geographiéreas

Due to our limited operating history and our linditeil and gas production, we have not estimatectuad or classified revenue ba
on segments or geographic areas. Production conedet our first well in December 2007.

Available Information — Reports to Security Holders

Our Website address is www.northernoil.comiVe make available on this Website under “Inve&elations,”free of charge, ol
annual reports on Form 10-K (formerly Form 10-KS&)arterly reports on Form 10-Q (formerly Form 18H), current reports on Formkg-
and amendments to those reports as soon as refsprediicable after we electronically file thosaterials with, or furnish those materials
the Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Thilsegs are also available to the public at the S&@ublic Reference Room at 10
Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. Ttgip may obtain information on the operation of thublic Reference Room by call
the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Electronic filings vifth SEC are also available on the SEC internesiteeht http://www.sec.gov

We have also posted to our website our Audit CotemiCharter, Compensation Committee Charter, Namm&ommittee Chart
and our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, iitiaddo all pertinent Company contact information.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Staements

We are including the following discussion to infolar existing and potential security holders gelheraf some of the risks al
uncertainties that can affect our Company and ke talvantage of the “safe harbor” protection fawfardlooking statements that applica
federal securities law affords.

From time to time, our management or persons aaiimgur behalf may make forwatdeking statements to inform existing
potential security holders about our Company. diditements other than statements of historicak famtluded in this report regarding
financial position, business strategy, plans andatives of management for future operations, itrgusonditions, and indebtedness cove
compliance are forward-looking statements. Wheadus this report, forwartboking statements are generally accompanied byster
phrases such as “estimate,” “project,” “predictijefieve,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “target,” “plan,"intend,” “seek,” “goal,” “will,” “should,”
“may” or other words and similar expressions that contey uncertainty of future events or outcomes. #testontemplating or makil
assumptions about, actual or potential future satemket size, collaborations, and trends or opegatesults also constitute such forward-
looking statements.

Forward-looking statements involve inherent riskd ancertainties, and important factors (many oicivtare beyond our Comparsy’
control) that could cause actual results to diffaaterially from those set forth in the forwddmbking statements, including 1
following: general economic or industry conditipnstionally and/or in the communities in which @wmpany conducts business, chang
the interest rate environment, legislation or ragary requirements, conditions of the securitieskeiz, our ability to raise capital, change
accounting principles, policies or guidelines, fin@l or political instability, acts of war or terism, other economic, competiti
governmental, regulatory and technical factorsciffig our Company’s operations, products, servésesprices.

We have based these forwdobking statements on our current expectations asslmptions about future events. While
management considers these expectations and assusat be reasonable, they are inherently




subject to significant business, economic, comipetiregulatory and other risks, contingencies andertainties, most of which
difficult to predict and many of which are beyondraontrol. Accordingly, results actually achievedy differ materially from expect
results in these statements. Forwkking statements speak only as of the date theynade. You should consider carefully the statesie
this “Item 1A. Risk Factorsand other sections of this report, which descradmdrs that could cause our actual results to rdiffan those s
forth in the forward-looking statements. Our Compaloes not undertake, and specifically disclaiarg; obligation to update any forward-
looking statements to reflect events or circumstaraccurring after the date of such statements.

Readers are urged not to place undue relianceese tlorwardeoking statements, which speak only as of the datais report. W
assume no obligation to update any forwlraking statements in order to reflect any eventimumstance that may arise after the date o
report, other than as may be required by appliciableor regulation. Readers are urged to carefielew and consider the various disclos
made by us in our reports filed with the Securidesl Exchange Commission which attempt to adviserdsted parties of the risks and fac
that may affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operation and cash flows. If one oremfrthese risks or uncertainties materializ
if the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those ex@eor projected.

Risks Related to our Business

Set forth below are various risks and uncertairttias could adversely impact our business, findro@adition, results of operation &
cash flow.

The global financial crisis may significantly impaour business and financial condition for the foseeable future.

The continued credit crisis and related turmoilthie global financial system may adversely impaat lousiness and our financ
condition, and we may face challenges if conditionthe financial markets do not improve. Our i#ito access the capital markets ma
restricted at a time when we would like, or needatise financing, which could have an impact onftaxibility to react to changing econor
and business conditions. The economic situatiaridcbave an impact on operators upon whom we agperdtent for drilling our wells, o
lenders or customers, causing them to fail to ntkeir obligations to us. Additionally, market catnehs could have an impact on 1
commodity hedging arrangements if our counterpsréiee unable to perform their obligations or seakkbuptcy protection. We belie'
however, that we are funded to meet our 2009 dgilirogram and additional capital would be requirethe event we accelerate our drilling
commodity prices decline substantially resultingemenues significantly less than we currently expe

We may be unable to obtain additional capital thaé will require to implement our business plan, whicould restrict our ability to grow.

We expect that our current capital and our othestierg resources will be sufficient only to providelimited amount of workir
capital, and the revenues generated from our ptiepdn Montana and North Dakota alone may notufécgent to fund both our continui
operations and our planned growth. We may recadditional capital to continue to operate our besinbeyond the initial phase of our cur
properties, and to further expand our exploratiod development programs to additional propertd®& may be unable to obtain additic
capital required.

Future acquisitions and future exploration, develept, production and marketing activities, as wslbur administrative requireme
(such as salaries, insurance expenses and generkead expenses, as well as legal compliance andtaccounting expenses) may requ
substantial amount of additional capital and céslv.f

We may pursue sources of additional capital throughous financing transactions or arrangementsiuding joint venturing c
projects, debt financing, equity financing or othezans. We may not be successful in locating lsgitthancing transactions in the time pe
required or at all, and we may not obtain the edpie require by other means. If we do not sucdéeedising additional capital, our resour
may not be sufficient to fund our planned expansibaperations going forward.




Any additional capital raised through the sale qpiity may dilute the ownership percentage of oaclgholders. This could also res
in a decrease in the fair market value of our ggsitcurities because our assets would be ownedlénger pool of outstanding equity. 1
terms of securities we issue in future capital geentions may be more favorable to our new investord may include preferences, supe
voting rights and the issuance of other derivaieeurities, and issuances of incentive awards uegeity employee incentive plans, wk
may have a further dilutive effect.

Our ability to obtain needed financing may be im@diby such factors as the capital markets (botieigdly and in the oil and g
industry in particular), our status as a new emiegpwvithout a significant demonstrated operatirggony, the location of our oil and natural
properties and prices of oil and natural gas orctiramodities markets (which will impact the amoahassethased financing available to
and/or the loss of key management. Further, ifaoidl/or natural gas prices on the commodities ntarélecline, our revenues will like
decrease and such decreased revenues may increassgjoirements for capital. If the amount of talpwe are able to raise from financ
activities, together with our revenues from operadi is not sufficient to satisfy our capital neddsen to the extent that we reduce
operations), we may be required to cease our apesat

We may incur substantial costs in pursuing futuapital financing, including investment banking fekgjal fees, accounting fe
securities law compliance fees, printing and disiibn expenses and other costs. We may alsoduéred to recognize nocash expenses
connection with certain securities we may issuehsas convertible notes, which may adversely impacfinancial condition.

We have minimal operating history, which may raisebstantial doubt as to our ability to successfullgvelop profitable business operatio

We have a limited operating history. Our businepsrations must be considered in light of the riskgpenses and difficulti
frequently encountered in establishing a businedhe oil and natural gas industries. We firstegated revenues from operations in the f
year ended December 31, 2008, and have been ggirfasused on exploratory drilling and fund raisiagtivities. There is nothing at this ti
on which to base an assumption that our businesgtipns will prove to be successful in the ldagn. Our future operating results \
depend on many factors, including:

= our ability to raise adequate working capi

= success of our development and exploral

= demand for natural gas and «

= the level of our competitior

= our ability to attract and maintain key managenaamt employees; ar

= our ability to efficiently explore, develop and giwe sufficient quantities of marketable natura geoil in a highly competitiy
and speculative environment while maintaining dguand controlling cost:

To achieve profitable operations in the future, mast, alone or with others, successfully executehenfactors stated above, al
with continually developing ways to enhance ourdoiation efforts, when commenced. Despite our bffetts, we may not be successfu
our exploration or development efforts, or obtaquired regulatory approvals. There is a possgjttiiat some, or all, of our wells may ne
produce natural gas or oil.

We are highly dependent on Michael Reger, our Chiefecutive Officer and Chairman and Ryan Gilbertsp@hief Financial Officer. The
loss of either of them, upon whose knowledge, leatigp and technical expertise we rely, would harraroability to execute our busine
plan.

Our success depends heavily upon the continuedilootions of Michael Reger and Ryan Gilbertson, sd&nowledge, leaders|
and technical expertise would be difficult to req@aand on our ability to retain and attract exgered engineers, geoscientists and
technical and professional staff. If we were teeldheir services, our ability to execute our bessnplan would be harmed and we ma
forced to cease operations until such time as wéldare a suitable replacement for them. Mr. Regel Mr. Gilbertson recently entered into
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employment agreements with the Company, howevey, itiay terminate their employment with the Compatngny time.

Our management team does not have extensive expeeién public company matters, which could impaiuoability to comply with lege
and regulatory requirements.

Our management team has had limited public compaayagement experience or responsibilities, whialldcompair our ability t
comply with legal and regulatory requirements sastthe Sarbané3xley Act of 2002 and applicable federal securiteess, including filing
required reports and other information requiredaotimely basis. It may be expensive to implement affect programs and policies in
effective and timely manner that adequately resgoridcreased legal, regulatory compliance andnteprequirements imposed by such |
and regulations, and we may not have the resotiocegs so. Our failure to comply with such laws aedulations could lead to the imposit
of fines and penalties and further result in theederation of our business.

Our lack of diversification will increase the riskf an investment in the Company, and our financiebndition and results of operations m
deteriorate if we fail to diversify

Our business focus is on the oil and gas industrg limited number of properties, initially in M@ma and North Dakota. Lart
companies have the ability to manage their riskdlyersification. However, we will lack diversifitan, in terms of both the nature ¢
geographic scope of our business. As a resultyiVdikely be impacted more acutely by factorseaffing our industry or the regions in wh
we operate than we would if our business were rdiwersified, enhancing our risk profile. If we cent diversify our operations, our financ
condition and results of operations could detet@ra

Strategic relationships upon which we may rely aebject to change, which may diminish our ability tonduct our operations

Our ability to successfully acquire additional propestito increase our reserves, to participate itingriopportunities and to identi
and enter into commercial arrangements with custemal depend on developing and maintaining cleseking relationships with indust
participants and on our ability to select and eatdusuitable properties and to consummate tramsesctin a highly competitiy
environment. These realities are subject to chamgemay impair our ability to grow.

To continue to develop our business, we will endedo use the business relationships of our manageno enter into strateg
relationships, which may take the form of joint wees with other private parties and contractuahrsgements with other oil and ¢
companies, including those that supply equipmedta@her resources that we will use in our businé¥e. may not be able to establish tt
strategic relationships, or if established, we may be able to maintain them. In addition, thealyits of our relationships with strate
partners may require us to incur expenses or uskkeHctivities we would not otherwise be inclinedrt order to fulfill our obligations to the
partners or maintain our relationships. If ouatgic relationships are not established or maiathi our business prospects may be lin
which could diminish our ability to conduct our ogtons.

Competition in obtaining rights to explore and ddap oil and gas reserves and to market our prodoatimay impair our business.

The oil and gas industry is highly competitive.h&toil and gas companies may seek to acquirendilgas leases and other prope
and services we will need to operate our busineslse areas in which we expect to operate. Thispatition is increasingly intense as pr
of oil and natural gas on the commodities markatselrisen in recent years. Additionally, other pamies engaged in our line of business
compete with us from time to time in obtaining ¢apifrom investors. Competitors include larger gamies which, in particular, may h:
access to greater resources, may be more succisttiel recruitment and retention of qualified eaygles and may conduct their own refir
and petroleum marketing operations, which may dhem a competitive advantage. In addition, actuapotential competitors may
strengthened through the acquisition of additiomsdets and interests. If we are unable to comgiéetively or adequately respond
competitive pressures, this inability may mateyialtiversely affect our results of operation andricial condition.

11




We may not be able to effectively manage our grgwthich may harm our profitability.

Our strategy envisions expanding our businessvelffail to effectively manage our growth, our ficéal results could be advers
affected. Growth may place a strain on our managegnsystems and resources. We must continue toereind expand our busin
capabilities, our systems and processes and ogssita financing sources. As we grow, we mustigoatto hire, train, supervise and mar
new employees. We cannot assure that we will betab

= meet our capital need

= expand our systems effectively or efficiently omitimely mannet

= allocate our human resources optima

= identify and hire qualified employees or retainuead employees; (

= incorporate effectively the components of any besinthat we may acquire in our effort to achiewwgn.

If we are unable to manage our growth, our opematend our financial results could be adverselgcdfd by inefficiency, which cot
diminish our profitability.

Our hedging activities could result in financial Eses or could reduce our net income, which may adely affect your investment in o
common stock.

Our current credit facility with CIT Capital USAn¢. imposes specific hedging requirements for aturé production. At the curre
time, we have hedged approximately 20% of our ebgo2009 production and less than 5% of our 201028111 production. While intend
to reduce the effects of volatile oil and naturas grices, such transactions may limit our potegtins and increase our potential losses
and natural gas prices were to rise substantiaiy the price established by the hedge. In addisoch transactions may expose us to tht
of loss in certain circumstances, including insemin which:

= our production is less than expect

= there is a widening of price differentials betwetalivery points for our production and the delivgryint assumed in the hec
arrangement; ¢

= the counterparties to our hedging agreementsdgietform under the contrac

Risks Related To Our Industry

Oil and natural gas prices are very volatile. Agiracted period of oil and natural gas prices siailto or below the prices in effect
December 31, 2008 may adversely affect our businfisancial condition, results of operations or chdlows.

The oil and gas markets are very volatile, and amnot predict future oil and natural gas pricebe Price we receive for our oil &
natural gas production heavily influences our remerprofitability, access to capital and futureeraf growth. The prices we receive for
production and the levels of our production depenchumerous factors beyond our control. Thesefadhclude, but are not limited to,
following:

= changes in global supply and demand for oil and

= the actions of the Organization of Petroleum ExpgrCountries

= the price and quantity of imports of foreign oildagas;

= political and economic conditions, including embmg, in oi-producing countries or affecting other-producing activity:
= the level of global oil and gas exploration anddarction activity;

= the level of global oil and gas inventori

= weather conditions

= technological advances affecting energy consump

= domestic and foreign governmental regulatic
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= proximity and capacity of oil and gas pipelines afiter transportation facilitie
= the price and availability of competit’ supplies of oil and gas in captive market aread,;
= the price and availability of alternative fue

Furthermore, the recent worldwide financial andlidrerisis has reduced the availability of liquiddand credit to fund the continuat
and expansion of industrial business operationddwaide. The shortage of liquidity and credit comdwl with recent substantial losse:
worldwide equity markets has lead to a worldwideremnic recession. The slowdown in economic agtichiused by such recession
reduced worldwide demand for energy and resultédvirer oil and natural gas prices.

Lower oil and natural gas prices may not only daseeour revenues on a per unit basis but also edyce the amount of oil a
natural gas that we can produce economically aeckfore potentially lower our reserve bookings substantial or extended decline in oi
natural gas prices may result in impairments of mmaved oil and gas properties and may materially adversely affect our future busin
financial condition, results of operations, liqujdor ability to finance planned capital expenditsir To the extent commodity prices rece
from production are insufficient to fund plannecpital expenditures, we will be required to redupersling or borrow any such shortt
Lower oil and natural gas prices may also redheeamount of our borrowing base under our credieement, which is determined at
discretion of the lenders based on the collateahles of our proved reserves that have been morthmthe lenders, and is subject to rec
redeterminations, as well as special redetermingtitescribed in the credit agreement.

Drilling for and producing oil and natural gas arehigh risk activities with many uncertainties thatoold adversely affect our busine:
financial condition or results of operations

Our future success will depend on the success pfdeuelopment, exploitation, production and expiora activities. Our oil ar
natural gas exploration and production activities subject to numerous risks beyond our contralutiing the risk that drilling will not resi
in commercially viable oil or natural gas produatioOur decisions to purchase, explore, developtioerwise exploit prospects or propet
will depend in part on the evaluation of data aledi through geophysical and geological analyseslyation data and engineering studies
results of which are often inconclusive or subjertvarying interpretations. Our cost of drillingpmpleting and operating wells is of
uncertain before drilling commences. Overruns uddeted expenditures are common risks that can mglaaticular project uneconomic
Further, many factors may curtail, delay or canic#ling, including the following:

. delays imposed by or resulting from compliance wiulatory requirement
. pressure or irregularities in geological formatic

* shortages of or delays in obtaining qualified persd or equipment, including drilling rigs and GO

. equipment failures or accidents; ¢
. adverse weather conditions, such as freezing teaahypes, hurricanes and storr

Our exploration for oil and gas is risky and may hbe commercially successful, and the advanced tebgies we use cannot elimine
exploration risk, which could impair our ability t@generate revenues from our operations.

Our future success will depend on the success oéxgploratory drilling program. Oil and gas exg@ton involves a high degree
risk. These risks are more acute in the earlyestad exploration. Our ability to produce reveramel our resulting financial performance
significantly affected by the prices we receive ddrand natural gas produced from wells on oueage. Especially in recent years, the p
at which oil and natural gas trade in the open etabave experienced significant volatility, and Ivikely continue to fluctuate in tt
foreseeable future due to a variety of influeneetuiding, but not limited to, the following:

= domestic and foreign demand for oil and naturallgaboth refineries and end use

= the introduction of alternative forms of fuel tlace or compete with oil and natural g

= domestic and foreign reserves and supply of oilreatdral gas

= competitive measures implemented by our compet@#ndsdomestic and foreign governmental boc
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= political climates in nations that traditionallyggluce and export significant quantities of oil aradural gas (including military a
other conflicts in the Middle East and surroundgpgraphic region) and regulations and tariffs iegab by exporting ai
importing nations

= weather conditions; ar

= domestic and foreign economic volatility and stil

Our expenditures on exploration may not resultdéw miscoveries of oil or natural gas in commergiaibble quantities. It is difficu
to project the costs of implementing an exploratdrijling program due to the inherent uncertaintiggdrilling in unknown formations, tl
costs associated with encountering various driléogditions, such as overessured zones and tools lost in the hole, andgesain drilling
plans and locations as a result of prior explosateells or additional seismic data and interpretagithereof.

Even when used and properly interpreted, three-asinaal (3D) seismic data and visualization techniques osbist geoscientists
identifying subsurface structures and hydrocaripalicators. They do not allow the interpreter towrconclusively if hydrocarbons are pres
or economically producible. In addition, the udetlwree-dimensional (8) seismic data becomes less reliable when usedcagasin
depths. We could incur losses as a result of edipges on unsuccessful wells. If exploration sastceed our estimates, or if our explore
efforts do not produce results which meet our etgigms, our exploration efforts may not be comradc successful, which could advers
impact our ability to generate revenues from owgrapons.

We may not be able to develop oil and gas reseovean economically viable basis, and our reserves production may decline as a result.

If we succeed in discovering oil and/or natural geserves, we cannot assure that these resertdsewidpable of production levels
project or in sufficient quantities to be commellgiaviable. On a longerm basis, our viability depends on our abilityfied or acquire
develop and commercially produce additional oil aatural gas reserves. Without the addition oémess through acquisition, exploratior
development activities, our reserves and productitindecline over time as reserves are produdedr future reserves will depend not only
our ability to develop theexisting properties, but also on our ability torntf and acquire additional suitable producing peuies o
prospects, to find markets for the oil and natgesd we develop and to effectively distribute owdurction into our markets.

Future oil and gas exploration may involve unpgdfie efforts, not only from dry wells, but from \ugethat are productive but do |
produce sufficient net revenues to return a pidtier drilling, operating and other costs. Comipleof a well does not assure a profit on
investment or recovery of drilling, completion amgerating costs. In addition, drilling hazardseawironmental damage could greatly incrt
the cost of operations, and various field operatingditions may adversely affect the productionmfreuccessful wells. These conditi
include delays in obtaining governmental approwalsonsents, shutewns of connected wells resulting from extreme theiaconditions
problems in storage and distribution and adversgogé&al and mechanical conditions. While we veitideavor to effectively manage th
conditions, we cannot be assured of doing so ofiimand we will not be able to eliminate them cdeiply in any case. Therefore, th
conditions could diminish our revenue and cash flevels and result in the impairment of our oil aradural gas interests.

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves that weaka may be inaccurate and our actual revenues may lbwer than our financia
projections.

We will make estimates of oil and natural gas nesgrupon which we will base our financial projens. We will make these rese
estimates using various assumptions, includingraptians as to oil and natural gas prices, drilmgl operating expenses, capital expendit
taxes and availability of funds. Some of theseiagtions are inherently subjective, and the acquod@ur reserve estimates relies in pat
the ability of our management team, engineers dner advisors to make accurate assumptions. Ecerfactors beyond our control, suck
interest rates, will also impact the value of eegarves. The process of estimating oil and nagiaslreserves is complex, and will require 1
use significant decisions and assumptions in theduetion of available geological, geophysical, @egring and economic data for e
property. As a result, our reserve estimates gllinherently imprecise. Actual future productioil,and natural gas prices, revenues, ti
development expenditures, operating expenses atitjes of recoverable oil and natural gas resemay vary
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substantially from those we estimate. If actuaduoction results vary substantially from our reseestimates, this could materi
reduce our revenues and result in the impairmeotiobil and natural gas interests.

Drilling new wells could result in new liabilitieswhich could endanger our interests in our propers and asset:

There are risks associated with the drilling of aild natural gas wells, including encountering peeted formations or pressui
premature declines of reservoirs, blowts, craterings, sour gas releases, fires ant$,spihong others. The occurrence of any of thesate
could significantly reduce our revenues or caudsstantial losses, impairing our future operatingutess. We may become subject to liab
for pollution, bloweuts or other hazards. We intend to obtain instgamith respect to these hazards; however, suciianse has limitatiol
on liability that may not be sufficient to coveeetfull extent of such liabilities. The paymentsofch liabilities could reduce the funds avail:
to us or could, in an extreme case, result in al toiss of our properties and assets. Moreovermag not be able to maintain adeq
insurance in the future at rates that are considlerasonable. Oil and natural gas production ¢ipeiaare also subject to all the risks typic
associated with such operations, including preneatiecline of reservoirs and the invasion of wat&s producing formations.

Decommissioning costs are unknown and may be subtiéd Unplanned costs could divert resources frasther projects

We may become responsible for costs associated atitindoning and reclaiming wells, facilities anggtines which we use f
production of oil and natural gas reserves. Abanuent and reclamation of these facilities and tstassociated therewith is often referre
as “decommissioning.'We have not yet determined whether we will esthbdisash reserve account for these potential aosespect of ar
of our properties or facilities, or if we will safy such costs of decommissioning from the procesdgroduction in accordance with -
practice generally employed in oilfield operationt.decommissioning is required before economipleion of our properties or if o
estimates of the costs of decommissioning exceedvétiue of the reserves remaining at any particiiiae to cover such decommission
costs, we may have to draw on funds from othercasuto satisfy such costs. The use of other ftodstisfy such decommissioning ct
could impair our ability to focus capital investmiémother areas of our business.

We may have difficulty distributing our productiomwhich could harm our financial condition.

In order to sell the oil and natural gas that wealsle to produce, we may have to make arrangerf@rgtorage and distribution to 1
market. We will rely on local infrastructure arftetavailability of transportation for storage amdpment of our products, but infrastruct
development and storage and transportation faslithay be insufficient for our needs at commergciaticeptable terms in the localities
which we operate. This could be particularly pesbtic to the extent that our operations are caeduin remote areas that are difficul
access, such as areas that are distant from sbigpid/or pipeline facilities. These factors mafeetf our ability to explore and deve
properties and to store and transport our oil atdral gas production and may increase our expenses

Furthermore, weather conditions or natural disasttions by companies doing business in one oe mithe areas in which we v
operate, or labor disputes may impair the distidyubf oil and/or natural gas and in turn diminglr financial condition or ability to mainte
our operations.

Environmental risks may adversely affect our busgse

All phases of the oil and gas business present@mwiental risks and hazards and are subject to@maental regulation pursuant t
variety of federal, state and municipal laws andutations. Environmental legislation provides famong other things, restrictions |
prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions afous substances produced in association with il gas operations. The legislation .
requires that wells and facility sites be operatetgintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the setisfe of applicable regulato
authorities. Compliance with such legislation aaquire significant expenditures and a breach nemplt in the imposition of fines a
penalties, some of which may be material. Envirental legislation is evolving in a manner we expmety result in stricter standards
enforcement, larger fines and liability and potelhyi increased capital expenditures and operatogisc The discharge of oil, natural ga
other pollutants into the air, soil or water mayegrise to liabilities to governments and thirdtjgar and may require us to incur costs to rer
such discharge.
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The application of environmental laws to our busgenay cause us to curtail our production or irseehe costs of our producti
development or exploration activities.

Our business will suffer if we cannot obtain or maain necessary licenses.

Our operations will require licenses, permits andsbme cases renewals of licenses and permits framous government
authorities. Our ability to obtain, sustain oreensuch licenses and permits on acceptable tersubject to change in regulations and pol
and to the discretion of the applicable governmeantsong other factors. Our inability to obtain,oorr loss of or denial of extension of, an'
these licenses or permits could hamper our alidifyroduce revenues from our operations.

Challenges to our properties may impact our finaattondition.

Title to oil and gas interests is often not capatfleonclusive determination without incurring stardial expense. While we intenc
make appropriate inquiries into the title of prdfesr and other development rights we acquire, tidéects may exist. In addition, we may
unable to obtain adequate insurance for title defean a commercially reasonable basis or atlftitle defects do exist, it is possible that
may lose all or a portion of our right, title anatérests in and to the properties to which the titéfects relate. If our property rights
reduced, our ability to conduct our explorationyelepment and production activities may be impaifeal mitigate tile problems it is comm
industry practice to obtain a Title Opinion frongaalified oil and gas attorney prior to the drifioperations of a well.

We will rely on technology to conduct our businemsd our technology could become ineffective or olese.

We rely on technology, including geographic andmsgt analysis techniques and economic models, telole our reserve estima
and to guide our exploration, development and petido activities. We will be required to continlyaénhance and update our technoloc
maintain its efficacy and to avoid obsolescenche §osts of doing so may be substantial, and mayidieer than the costs that we antici
for technology maintenance and development. Ilfaneeunable to maintain the efficacy of our techgglomur ability to manage our busin
and to compete may be impaired. Further, evereifive able to maintain technical effectiveness techinology may not be the most effic
means of reaching our objectives, in which casenag incur higher operating costs than we would veeretechnology more efficient.

Risks Related to our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock is, and isdli to continue to be, highly volatile and subjeotwide fluctuations.

The market price of our common stock is likely émtinue to be highly volatile and could be subjectvide fluctuations in response
a number of factors, some of which are beyond oatrol, including:

= dilution caused by our issuance of additional sharecommon stock and other forms of equity sei@siitwhich we expect
make in connection with future capital financingfund our operations and growth, to attract andimevaluable personnel anc
connection with future strategic partnerships wither companies

= announcements of new acquisitions, reserve distss/er other business initiatives by our compeit

= our ability to take advantage of new acquisitioeserve discoveries or other business initiati

= fluctuations in revenue from our oil and gas businas new reserves come to mar

= changes in the market for oil and natural gas codities and/or in the capital markets genere

= changes in the demand for oil and natural gasudhie changes resulting from the introduction guamsion of alternative fuel

= quarterly variations in our revenues and operatixgenses

= changes in the valuation of similarly situated camips, both in our industry and in other industt

= changes in analy¢ estimates affecting our company, our competitodd@rour industry

= changes in the accounting methods used in or otbemifecting our industn
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= additions and departures of key person

= announcements of technological innovations or nesdyicts available to the oil and gas indus

= announcements by relevant governments pertainingcémtives for alternative energy development aots;

= fluctuations in interest rates and the availabtlifycapital in the capital markets; a

= significant sales of our common stock, includindesaby selling stockholders following the regisoat of shares under
prospectus

These and other factors are largely beyond ourabrand the impact of these risks, singly or ia #ggregate, may result in mate
adverse changes to the market price of our comnwak sind/or our results of operations and finanoeddition.

Our operating results may fluctuate significanthand these fluctuations may cause the price of oomamon stock to decline.

Our operating results will likely vary in the futuprimarily as the result of fluctuations in ouveaues and operating expen
including the coming to market of oil and naturakgeserves that we are able to discover and develpenses that we incur, the prices ¢
and natural gas in the commodities markets and ddotors. If our results of operations do not htbe expectations of current or poter
investors, the price of our common stock may declin

Stockholders will experience dilution upon the ex&ge of options

As of December 31, 2008, we had authorized theaissel of up to 2,000,000 shares of common stockriyiig options that may |
granted, of which options for 1,660,000 sharesashimon stock had already been granted, and of th@sged, 400,000 remain outstand
pursuant to our 2006 Incentive Stock Option Pl@m January 30, 2009, our Board of Directors alsaptetl the 2009 Equity Incentive Pl
pursuant to which we may issue up to 3,000,000eshaf our common stock either upon exercise ofkstgtions granted under such plai
through restricted stock awards under such plaithel holders of outstanding options exercise thm#éns or our Compensation Commi
determines to grant restricted stock awards undeimnzentive plan, stockholders may experiencetidituin the net tangible book value of
common stock. Further, the sale or availabilitydale of the underlying shares in the marketptacdd depress our stock price.

We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseediiure.

We do not intend to declare dividends for the feeable future, as we anticipate that we will regtvany future earnings in t
development and growth of our business. Therefax@stors will not receive any funds unless thel their common stock, and stockholc
may be unable to sell their shares on favorabhagerr at all. Investors cannot be assured of @iyp@seturn on investment or that they will
lose the entire amount of their investment in ammon stock.

Item 1B. Un resol ved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties
Leasehold Properties

Our principal assets continue to be located inviliiston Basin region of the northern United Stand Yates County, New Yo
and included the following primary positions ad&fcember 31, 2008:

= A pproximately 30,000 net acres located in Mouhi@unty North Dakota, within and surrounding to the nortiuth and we:
the Parshall Field currently being developed by BRé3ources to target the Bakken St

= Approximately 25,000 net acres located in Dunmi@@p , North Dakota in which we are targeting the Bakken Shale ancké
Forks/Sanish formatior

= Approximately 22,000 net acrlocated in Sheridan County, Montarepresenting a stacked pay prosy

= Approximately 10,000 net acrelocated in Burke anDivide Countiesof North Dakotg, targeting the Bakken Shale and Th
Forks/Sanish formatios near significant drilling activities by Marathonl@orporation

= Approximately 10,000 net acres located in “Finger Lake” region of Yates County, New York, in which we are targetil
natural gas production from the Trenton/Black Riwarcellus and (ueenstow-Medina formation:

= Approximately 5,000 net acréscated in McKenzie, Williams and Mercer Countiegrti Dakota, in which we are targeting
Bakken Shale

These properties target the same Bakken Shale roeesdormation. We believe the Bakken formationresents one of the most oil ri
exciting plays in the Continental United Statefie North Dakota Geological Survey currently estesahe reserves in the Bakken forme
to be 300 billion barrels, of which approximately% is thought to be currently recoverable, makingnie of the largest resource plays in
Continental United States. W e possess three-diimeal (3-D) seismic data covering our acreage ontdna and North Dakotawhich we
hope to utilize to effectively target the most effee well locations on our acreage to most effitye develop our propertie$¥e commence
drilling on the Bakken properties in late 2007.asBd on 64@cre spacing, our current acreage position wouddvalis to participate in up
110 net wells.

In addition, we control approximately 10,000 netegdocated in the “Finger Lakes” region of Yatesu@ty , New York, in which we
are targeting natural gas production from the ToefBlack River, Marcellus and Queenstown-Medinarfations. We possess twimensiol
(2-D) seismic data veering this position. Two wellsrevrecently drilled by Chesapeake Energy proximalur acreage. We understand
results of these wells to be positive and bode feelthe future potential of our acreage. Thispamy is outside of our core focus area at
subject to divestiture although no assurances eagiien that we could complete a transaction.

Acreage Acquisitions

The discussion that follows summarizes our prim@gent acquisitions We have made various additional acquisitiongaatag
through numerous small transactions pursuant tachwvie purchased oil, gas and mineral leases.

Montana Acquisitiot

In February 2007, we acquired leasehold interes&pproximately 22,000 net mineral acres in Sharidaunty, Montana. We pait
combination of cash and stock as consideratiorsfich acquisition, including the issuance of an egge of 400,000 restricted shares of
common stock.

North Dakota Acquisition

At various points in late 2007 and throughout 2088,acquired leasehold interests in approximat&l¢23 net mineral acres of le
via bulk purchases in the core development arédafntrail County, North Dakota. We paid a combioatof cash and stock as considere
for such acquisitions, including the issuance ofaggregate of 633,027 restricted shares of our ammstock. In addition to these me
acquisitions we completed a series of small traimas pursuant to which we purchased leaseholdeste in approximately 8,000 net min
acres in Mountrail County.

On June 11, 2008, we entered into a purchase agregrursuant to which we ultimately acquired leafttinterests in approximate
23,210 net mineral acres primarily in Dunn CoumNgrth Dakota. We also completed various additiawuisitions of oil and gas leaset
interests through numerous small transactions sétkeral parties in fiscal years 2007 and 2008.

At various points in 2007 and 2008, we purchaseddbold interests in approximately 10,000 net rainacres in and around Bu
and Divide Counties of North Dakota for cash coesation.

We have also completed other miscellaneousmaterial acquisitions in North Dakota, and utilizedombination of stock and ci
consideration for some of the acquisitio



New York Acquisitiol

In September 2007, we acquired leasehold inteiestpproximately 10,000 net mineral acres in thep@lpchia Basin of Ne
York. We paid a combination of cash and stock assieration for such acquisition, including theuiance of an aggregate of 275,
restricted shares of our common stock.

Certain of the foregoing acquisitions were purcbasging the services of, or purchased from, paciesidered to be related to our compan

our Chief Executive Officer, Michael L. Reger. Alhnsactions involving related parties were appdoy our Board of Directors or Audit
Committee and we obtained independent verificatibtne fairness of consideration paid in each tratign.
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Undeveloped and Developed Acreage

The following table summarizes our estimated geva$ net developed and undeveloped acreage by catibigcember 31, 2008. |
acreage represents our percentage ownership o goosage. The following table does not includeage in which our interest is limited
royalty and overriding royalty interests.

Developed Acreage Undeveloped Acreage Total Acreage
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
North Dakots 6,011 2,339 173,989 67,661 180,000 70,00(
Montana 1,64¢ 640 23,356 21,360 25,000 22,00(
New York 0 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,00(
Total: 7,65¢E 2,979 207,345 99,021 215,000 102,00(
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Production History

The following table presents information about gmoduced oil and gas volumes during the year enBedember 3:
2008. Comparative information is not available dowy prior years because as of December 31, 2007ad®nly two wells that had just beq
to produce oil and had not yet received sales gmeat data from our operating partners or purclsasegarding that production. As
December 31, 2008, we were selling oil and natyaalfrom a total of 36 gross wells. All data preed below is derived from accrued reve
and production volumes for the relevant perioddatid.

Three Three Three Three

Months Months Months Months

Ended Ended Ended Ended Year-End

March 31, June 30, September December 31 December 31
2008 2008 30, 2008 2008 2008

Net Production:
Oil (Bbl) 3,14: 6,354 13,11 28,27: 50,88(
Natural Gas (Mcf 4 114 41z 3,43¢ 3,96¢
Barrel of Oil Equivalent (Boe 3,14« 6,37: 13,18( 28,84¢ 51,54
Average Sales Prices:
Oil (per Bbl) $ 90.8¢ $ 120.0¢ $ 108.7: $ 48.61 $ 75.6%
Effect of oil hedges on average price (per E $ 0.41 - - $ 27.5C $ 15.31
Oil net of hedging (per Bb $ 91.3C $ 120.1: $ 103.5C $ 76.11 $ 90.9¢
Natural Gas (per Mcf $ 9.2 $ 15.4¢  $ 13.9¢ $ 728 % 8.1¢
Natural Gas (per Mcf $ 9.2 $ 15.4¢ $ 13.9¢ $ 728 % 8.1¢
Effect of natural gas hedges on average priceNjoér -- -- -- -- --
Average Production Costs:
Oil (per Bbl) $ 0.4 $ 128 $ 137 $ 15C $ 1.37
Natural Gas (per Mcf $ 0.5C $ 0.4t $ 027 $ 03z $ 0.3z
Barrel of Oil Equivalent (Boe $ 0.4 $ 12¢ $ 137 $ 151 $ 1.3¢




Depletion of oil and natural gas properties

Our depletion expense is driven by many factorkiging certain exploration costs involved in thevelepment of producing reserv
production levels and estimates of proved resemamtities and future developmental costs. The fahg table presents our depletion expe
for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Three Three Three
Months Three Months Months
Ended Months Ended Ended Year-Ended
March 31, Ended September December 31 December 31
2008 June 30, 200 30, 2008 2008 2008
Depletion of oil and natural gas propert $ 40,63t $ 106,94 $ 190,50: $ 447,42 $ 785,50«

Productive Oil Wells

The following table summarizes gross and net prodeoil wells by state at December 31, 2008 and720A net well represents ¢
percentage ownership of a gross well. No wells Haaen permitted or drilled on any of our Yates GguNew York acreage. The followi
table does not include wells in which our inteiiedtmited to royalty and overriding royalty intests. The following table also does not inclt
wells which were awaiting completion, in the prace$ completion or awaiting flowback subsequerftaature stimulation.

December 31

2008 2007
Gross Net Gross Net
North Dakots 34 1.54 2 0.087¢
Montana 2 0.5C 0 0
Total 36 2.04 2 0.087¢

Dry Holes

In the second quarter of 2007, we participatedhanTeigen Trust #33 with a 6.25% working interest, a well identifig@toposed and drilled
Kodiak Oil and Gas, Inc. The well was intendedarget the Mission Canyon formation, but produeedry hole. We did not have any
holes in 2008.

Drilling Activity

We are engaged in numerous drilling activities copprties presently owned and intend to drill ovedep other properties acquirec
the future. The following table sets forth ourlldrg activity for the last three years. The infaation should not be considered indicativ
future performance, nor should it be assumed thertetis necessarily any correlation between thebeurof productive wells drilled a
guantities of reserves found or economic valuedikctive wells are those that produce commerciahtjties of hydrocarbons, whether or
they produce a reasonable rate of return.

As of March 16, 2009 we have total of 65 wells tag either drilling, completing or producing, imding 46 producing wells and
drilling or completing wells. The following tabtets forth wells that have completed drilling anel producing oil as of March 16, 2009:

Northern Oil Working

Well Name County Operator Interest
Bergstrom Trust 26-1H Mountrail, ND Brigham Exploration 6.25000%6)
Hallingstad 27-1H Mountrail, ND Brigham Exploration 8.4375%2
Richardson 2-1 Sheridan, M1 Brigham Exploratior 37.0000%
Richardson 30-1 Sheridan, MT Brigham Exploration 12.5000%4°)
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Well Name

Johnson 33-1H
Friedrick
Trust 3--1
Bonney 3-3H
Shonna -15H
Skachenko -31H
Elveida -33H
Arvid 1-34H
Thorvald -6H
Landblom -35 H
Oilers 1F-10
Wayzetta -13H
Austin 19-30H
Clearwater -2H
En-Nese-0706F-1
En-Perso-1102F-1
Rs-Agribank-1102F-1
En-Hynek-0112F-1
Bl-Blanchar-155-96-1522F-1
Reiss 3-20H
Kent Carlson 2-36H
Voigt 11-15H
Clive Pelton 3-23H
Kovaloff 21-17H
Strommen 1-8H
Eckelberg 4-26H
Mark Sandstrom 1-32H
Jay Sandstrom :-31H
Jodi Carlson 2-12H
Norton 2+12H
Rick Clair 2%-36H
Gladys -9H
Nelson -26H
Pathfinder -9H
Voyager -28H
Prowler -16H
Payara -21H
Peacemaker-8H
Jericho -5H
Pe-Inc Federal 2-44
Moi 22-15H
Braaflat 1.-11H
Federal 1-9H

County

MT

Mountrail, ND

Sheridan,

Dunn, ND
Divide, ND
Dunn, ND
Divide, ND
Divide, ND
Dunn, ND
Divide, ND
Richland, MT
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Williams, ND
Dunn, ND
Dunn, ND
Dunn, ND
Dunn, ND
Dunn, ND
Dunn, ND
Dunn, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Dunn, ND
Dunn, ND
Mountrail, ND
McKenzie, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND
McKenzie, ND
Billings, ND
Mountrail, ND
Mountrail, ND

Operator
Brigham Exploration
Brigham
Exploration
Burlington Resource
Continental Resource
Continental Resource
Continental Resource
Continental Resource
Continental Resource
Continental Resource
Crusader Energ
EOG Resource
EOG Resources
EOG Resource
Hess Corporatio
Hess Corporatio
Hess Corporatio
Hess Corporatio
Hess Corporatio
Marathon Qil Compan
Marathon QOil Compan
Marathon Oil Compan
Marathon QOil Compan
Marathon Qil Compan
Marathon Oil Compan
Marathon Qil Compan
Marathon Qil Compan
Marathon Oil Compan
Marathon Qil Compan
Marathon Qil Compan
Murex Petroleun
Newfield Exploratior
Sinclair Oil
Slawson Exploratiol
Slawson Exploratiol
Slawson Exploratiol
Slawson Exploratiol
Slawson Exploratiol
Slawson Exploratiol
St. Mary Land and Exploratic
Whiting Oil & Gas
Whiting Oil and Ga:
Whiting Oil and Ga:

(1) Upon achieving payout, our working interest wiltirase to 24.5%
(2) Upon achieving payout, our working interest wiltirase to 20.5%

(3) Upon achieving payout, our working interest wiltiease to 21.25%. Additionally, we have a 1.0%ridieg royalty interest on ¢

production from this well

(4) Upon achieving payout, our working interest wilcdease to 8.125%
(5) Upon achieving payout, our working interest wiltirase to 4.02%
(6) Upon achieving payout, our working interest wilcdease to 3.11229
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Northern Oil
Working Interest

12.50009%

23.3175%
2.7344%
14.8438%
6.2500%
9.8631%
4.8622%
6.7000%
0.3125%
6.5972%
6.2500%

3.0925%")
3.6431%
2.8000%
12.1809%

4.7880%°)
0.7811%
2.5000%
2.4509%
6.2500%
0.7919%
1.1719%
0.6250%
2.5008%
0.3900%
3.8691%
0.4771%
1.2500%
1.2500%
6.2500%
2.6042%
2.6042%
2.6000%
4.9609%
3.4375%
2.3125%
14.4220%
42.0000%
7.2006%
2.3438%
0.0100%
.390625%




The following table sets forth wells that have coemred drilling but are not producing oil as of Madd, 2009:

Northern Oil Working

Well Name County Operator Interest
Armstrong -24H Billings, ND Continental Resource 1.2188%
Sidonia -06H Mountrail, ND EOG Resource 9.6486%
Austin -4H Mountrail, ND EOG Resource 0.3906%
Parshall 1-27H Mountrail, ND EOG Resource 0.3125%
Parshall 1-28H Mountrail, ND EOG Resource 0.3125%
Fladeland1-30H Mountrail, ND Fidelity Exploration 1.1405%
Rs-F. Armour 15-92-1213H Mountrail, ND Hess Corporatio 0.2344%
En-Enget 15-93-100¢-1H Mountrail, ND Hess Corporatio 2.5000%
Bangen 4-27H Mountrail, ND Marathon Oil Compan 5.7813%
Shobe 2-20H Mountrail, ND Marathon QOil Compan 0.7440%
Chad Allen Mountrail, ND Murex Petroleun 6.2500%
Wisness -4H Mckenzie Newfield Exlportatior 5.0000%
Bandit -29H Mountrail, ND Slawson Exploratiol 26.2500%
Nightcrawler -17H Mountrail, ND Slawson Exploratiol 2.9200%
Lee 2¢1H Dunn, ND Tracker Resource 6.2500%
Lacey 1-12H Mountrail, ND Whiting Oil % Gas 0.4000%
Braaflat 1.-1H Mountrail, ND Whiting Oil & Gas 0.4000%
Wolf 1-4H Mountrail, ND Windsor Energy 15.8116%
Sig 21>-6 Divide, ND XTO Energy 1.4372%

Including the wells set forth in the foregoing &l we estimate that approximately 240 sectionghich we have acreage interests have
included in permits to drill wells within North Data and Montana. We do not know if or when applieaoperators will chose to comme
drilling activities for any contemplated well thatnot yet drilling.

Brigham Exploration Joint Ventures

On April 23, 2007 we entered into a joint ventugeegzment with Brigham Exploration. Under the teohthe agreement, we contributed 3,
net acres of our approximately 70,000 net acrestéacin North Dakota and approximately 22,000 et of our Sheridan County, Mont;
acreage. Commencing in 2008, Brigham was subfeat 120 day continuous drilling provision requiriBggham to drill every 120 days
retain future drilling opportunities on our Shend&ounty Acreage. Drilling under the Brigham joirgnture commenced in the early for
quarter of 2007. During 2008, Brigham drilled anatcessfully completed two wells in North Dakota &amo wells in Montana under the jc
venture. Subsequent to December 31, 2008, we dmvpleted a third Red River producer with Brighamder this Joint Venture.

Slawson Exploration Drilling Arrangement

On October 30, 2008, we executed a drilling agre#méth Slawson Exploration covering certain of @ereage in Mountrail Coun
North Dakota for a single well drilling arrangememunder that agreement, we agreed to sell 12@crets in Section 5, Township 151 No
Range 92 West for $3,000 per net acre. Once #mesaction was completed, we controlled a 42% wgrkirierest in the section to
drilled. Drilling commenced for the Jericho5H well on January 31, 2009, as a horizontal Bakketi drilled on the 640 acre spac
unit. The Jericho BH was completed in early March 2009. We expeattiiize this arrangement with Slawson to furthewelop our hig
working interest sections throughout 2009. We dg however, anticipate selling down working intrbut rather drilling units where b
Slawson and our company have significant leaseintédest.

Research and Development

We do not anticipate performing any significantguot research and development under our plan oftipe.
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Reserves

We completed our most recent reservoir enginearatgulation in February 2009. A discussion of msgerve estimations and a te
summarizing the results of our most recent reseggert are included under the heading “BusinesgseRres” in Item 1 of this report.

Delivery Commitments

We do not currently have any delivery commitmenotsgroduct obtained from our wells.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

As of March 16, 2009, our company was a party te litigation claim arising in the ordinary coursthusiness and seeking
quieting of title for a leasehold interest acquifemm a third party. To the knowledge of managetnea federal, state or local governme
agency is presently contemplating any proceedirmgnagthe Company. No director, executive officeaffiliate of the Company or owner
record or beneficially of more than five percenttlid Companys common stock is a party adverse to the Comparasra material intere
adverse to the Company in any proceeding.

On or about December 19, 2008, we instituted a RNIspute Resolution matter against UBS Financialviges, Inc. (“UBS)
relating to certain unauthorized trades conductedBS in connection with our commodities hedging@amt at that institution. The mat
relates to what we allege to be UBSmproper attribution of an unauthorized long &ad our hedging account. When our manage
brought the error to UBS’attention, UBS acknowledged to two members ofroanagement that the contracts were erroneousigaéid t
our account due to an error and explained thairtiséake would be corrected and that an amendeehséait would be issued. Ultimately U
liquidated the contracts without any instructioonfr our company. In addition to this event, UBSsaguently admitted that it had commi
other errors in trading for our hedging account. 8ve seeking damages from UBS in excess of $870{08 attorneysfees. We recent
received UBSS response to our Statement of Claim and the matiieently is in the discovery stage of proceedingfe are confident th
given the facts, and given UBS'’s financial abiliblydo so, we will recover damages in this action.

Our management believes that all litigation matiars/hich we are involved are not likely to havenaterial adverse effect on «
financial position, cash flows or results of operas.
Iltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stodda during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2007.
Executive Officers of the Registrant

Pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of RedgatatS-K and General Instruction G(3) to Form KOthe following information i
included in Part | of this annual report. Thedaling are our executive officers as of March 18)20

Name Age Positions
Michael L. Rege 32 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Secret
Ryan R. Gilbertsol 33 Director and Chief Financial Office

Michael L. Regehas served as our Chief Executive Officer, Secyetad a Director since March 2007. Mr. Reger heenbprimaril
involved in the acquisition of oil, gas and minetights for his entire professional life and isieedtor of Reger Oil based in Billings, Montal
Mr. Reger holds a Bachelor of Arts in Finance amd MBA in Finance/Management from the University 8f. Thomas in St. Pa
Minnesota. The Reger family has a history of ageeacquisition in the Williston Basin dating to 295
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Ryan R. Gilbertsomas served as our Chief Financial Officer and &&ar since March 2007. Mr. Gilbertsernast position prior
cofounding Northern was at Piper Jaffray in Minne&dtom March 2004 to August 2006. Prior to Pigaffray, Ryan was a portfo
manager at Telluride Asset Management, a nsiifitegy hedge fund based in Wayzata, MinnesotaanRiiolds a BA frot
Gustavus Adolphus College in International Busifféssince.

PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Skdwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Market Information

Our common stock was listed on the OTC Bulletin iBoaf the National Association of Securities Deal@INASD”) on January 1
2006, under the symbol “"KNTX"but there was no active trading prior to approxghaDecember 2006. Effective April 3, 2007, aftbe
Merger and name change, our trading symbol wasgdthto “NOGS.OB.”Our common stock commenced trading on the AMEX cardy
26, 2008 under the symbol “NOG.”

The high and low bid and offer prices for shareca@hmon stock of our company for each quarter dugf07 is set forth belo
although data prior to March 2007 is not applicabléhe current structure of the Company. The laigth low sales prices for shares of com
stock of our company for each quarter during 2@08eit forth below. The difference in referenceeuised for the tables below results f
transitioning the listing of our common stock frone OTC Bulletin Board to the AMEX in the first quer of 2008.

Sales Price
2008 fiscal yeat High Low
First Quarte $ 73C % 5.6&
Second Quarte 16.4( 6.9t
Third Quartel 14.0C 5.1¢4
Fourth Quarte 8.1z 2.0t
Closing Bid
2007 fiscal yeat High Low
First Quarte| $ 50C $ 1.1C
Second Quarte 5.5C 3.4C
Third Quartel 6.5(C 4.4C
Fourth Quarte 7.9C 4,92

Prices set forth above for the 2007 fiscal yearewantained from the National Quotation Bureau, Bred do not necessarily reflect ac
transactions, retail markups, mark downs or comigniss Stock price data before March 20, 2007¢pigte prior “shell company”—Kentex
and therefore may not be relevant to any analylsteeo postMerger Company. Kentex common stock did not conoeaeguotation until tt
third quarter of fiscal year 2006.

The closing price for our common stock on the AM&XMarch 13, 2008 was $2.61 per share.

Comparison Chart
The following information in this Item 5 of this Amal Report on Form 10-K is not deemed to be “#olig material” or to be “filed”

with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14@enmthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to idlgilities of Section 18 of the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be
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deemed to be incorporated by reference into amgfilnder the Securities Act of 1933 or the SemsiExchange Act of 1934, exc
to the extent we specifically incorporate it byerefince into such a filing.

The following graph compares on a cumulative belanges since completion of our reverse mergermii A3, 2007 in (a) the tot
stockholder return on our common stock with (b) tihtal return on the Standard & Pa®iComposite 500 Index and (c) the total returnhe
Amex Oil Index. Such changes have been measurediiging (a) the sum of (i) the amount of dividentbr the measurement peri
assuming dividend reinvestment, and (ii) the défere between the price per share at the end ofhenldeginning of the measurement pe
by (b) the price per share at the beginning oftieasurement period. The graph assumes $100 westéavon April 13, 2007 in our comn
stock, the Standard & PosrComposite 500 Index and the Amex Oil Index. Vaeehnot included any graph for any period prioAfil 13,
2007, because there was no active trading in ommuan stock prior to April 13, 2007 and, as suchiads not available for any period priol
such date.

i
Vi

i
v

Dollars / \
FI0R00 15 -

Lian e TE A PEX
T 1 1
41372007 2r21r2007 TEA2008
4/13/07 12/31/07 12/31/08
Northern Oil and Gas, In $ 100 $ 173.7" $ 65.0(
Standard & Poc¢'s Composite 500 Inde 100 101.0° 62.17
Amex Oil Index 100 122.7( 77.07

Holders

As of March 9, 2009, we had 34,120,103 shares and#tg of our common stock, held by approximateBy 4hareholders
record. The number of record holders does notssecidy bear any relationship to the number of Geia¢ owners of our common stock.
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Dividends

The payment of dividends is subject to the disoretif our Board of Directors and will depend, amarther things, upon o
earnings, our capital requirements, our financa@idition, and other relevant factors. We have paitl or declared any dividends upon
common stock since our inception and, by reasopusfpresent financial status and our contemplatean€ial requirements, and do
anticipate paying any dividends upon our commougksin the foreseeable future. We intend to reibeesy earnings in the development
expansion of our business. Any cash dividendsénftiture to common stockholders will be payablemtas and if declared by our Boar
Directors or our Compensation Committee, based ejitbier the Board's or the Committee’s assessmient o

our financial condition and performanc

earnings

need for funds

capital requirement:

prior claims of preferred stock to the extent issaad outstanding; ar

other factors, including income tax consequenasrictions and any applicable lav

There can be no assurance, therefore, that angedids on the common stock will ever be paid.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table provides information with regpéo our common shares issuable under our eqaitypensation plans as of
December 31, 2008:

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

Number of securities under equity

to be issued upon
exercise of outstandin
options, warrants and

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,

compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected in column

rights warrants and rights (a))
Plan Category (@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holers
Incentive Stock Option Plg 400,000 $5.18 340,000
Equity compensation plans not approved by securit
holders
None - - -
Total 400,000 $5.18 340,000

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Reeds from Registered Securities

On December 23, 2008, we issued 15,902 sharesioicted common stock to Twin City Technical, LL€ partial consideration f
our acquisition of leases covering approximatelg 88t mineral acres in North Dakota. Additionathyp December 23, 2008, we issued 7
shares of restricted common stock to Missouri RiR@&wyalty Corporation as partial consideration farr @cquisition of leases cover

approximately 130 net mineral acres in
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North Dakota. On December 23, 2008, we issuedAsti@res of restricted common stock to Turmoil, LA<partial consideration !
our acquisition of leases covering approximately 22t mineral acres in North Dakota. On Decemi&r2D08, we issued 500 share:
restricted common stock to David Bickerstaff assideration for services provided to our companyl. oA the foregoing transactions wi
approved by our board of directors. None of thedoing shares of our common stock were issueddsh consideration and, as such, we
not receive any proceed from the issuance of tregfing securities.

All of the foregoing shares were issued pursuantht exemption from registration provided in Setti#(2) of the Act. In ea
instance, the recipients of the shares were aftbedeopportunity for effective access to files aadords of the Company that containec
relevant information needed to make its investnaadision, including the Comparsyfinancial statements and reports filed pursuarth¢
Exchange Act. We reasonably believe that eactpierdi immediately prior to issuing the shares, kadh knowledge and experienct
financial and business matters that it was capablevaluating the merits and risks of its investdgach recipient had the opportunit
speak with our officers and directors on severabsons prior to their investment decision.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The financial statement information set forth bel@wderived from our balance sheets as of Decer@befP008 and 2007, and
related statements of operations, stockholderstyecqand cash flows for the years ended DecembeB28 and 2007 and for the period fi
inception [October 5, 2006] through December 30&Mhcluded elsewhere in this report. Financiateshent information for the years en
December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the balance sheemation at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 arevet from audited financi
statements presented in our December 31, 2006 BROFKSB report and not included in this report, whighahcial statements were
historical financial statements of Kentex Petrolelms, our company prior to the acquisition of N@ntn on March 20, 2007.

From
Inception on
October 5,
Year Endec Year Endec 2006 througt  Year Endec Year Endec
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Statements of Income Information:
Revenue:
Oil and Gas Sale $ 3,542,99 - — - -
Gain on Derivatives 778,88! - - - -
Total Revenues $ 4,321,87 = - - -
Operating Expense
Production Expense $ 70,95¢ - - - -
Severance Taxe 203,18: - - = -
General and Administrative Exper 2,091,28 $ 4,509,74. $ 76,37¢ $ 12,267 $ 30,08
Depletion Oil and Gas Properti 785,50« -- -- — =
Depreciation and Amortizatic 67,06( 3,44¢ -- -- -
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obligas 1,03( -- -- - =
Total Expenses $ 3,219,011 $ 4,513,18 $ 76,37¢ $ 12,267 $ 30,08
Income (loss) from operatiol $ 1,102,860 $ (4,513,18) $ (76,379 $ (12,267 $ (30,089
Other Income 383,89: 207,89t 267 25,00( --
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Income (loss) Before income tax $ 1486,75 $ (4,305,29) $ (76,100 $ (12,73) $ (30,089

Income tax provision (Benefit) (873,000 -- -- -- --
Net income (loss $ 2,359,75. $ (4,305,29) $ (76,100 $ (12,73) $ (130,089
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share — Basic and

Diluted 0.07 (0.1¢) (0.0 (0.0 (0.07)
Weighted Average Shares Outstanc— Basic 31,920,74 23,667,11 18,000,00 2,357,99 2,357,99
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Diluted 32,653,55 23,667,11 18,000,00 2,357,99 2,357,99

Balance Sheet Information:

Total Asset: $ 62,87553 $ 18,131,46 $ 1,105,93 -- -
Total Liabilities $ 13,411,06 $ 22424 $ 1,143,066 $ 30,81 % 43,54+
Stockholder's Equity (Defici $ 49,464,47 $ 17,907,21 $ 37,13 $ (30,81) $ (43,54
Statement of Cashflow Information:

Net cash used provided by (used for) operatinyiies $ 2,506,49: $ (491,509 $ (38,53) -- -
Net cash used provided by (used for) investinyitiets $ (40,357,96) $ (5,078,75) $ (255,001) - --
Net cash used provided by (used for) financing/éiets $ 28,519,52 $ 14,832,99 $ 1,143,46 -- -

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firen€ondition and Results of Operations containsvérd{ooking statemen
regarding future events and our future results éhatsubject to the safe harbors created undeBebarities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Art”
and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “ErgleaAct”). All statements other than statements of histoffi@ets included in this repc
regarding our financial position, business strateghans and objectives of management for futureraifmms, industry conditions, a
indebtedness covenant compliance are forward-lgplstatements. When used in this report, forwaoding statements are gener.
accompanied by terms or phrases such as “estimg@ject,” “predict,” “believe,” “expect,” “antigpate,” “target,” “plan,” “intend,” “seek,”
“goal,” “will,” “should,” “may” or other words and similar expressions that contrey uncertainty of future events or outcomes. ¢
contemplating or making assumptions about, actugdotential future sales, market size, collaboretjoand trends or operating results
constitute such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements involve inherent riskd ancertainties, and important factors (many ofcivtare beyond our Comparsy’
control) that could cause actual results to diffeaterially from those set forth in the forwdmbking statements, including the followil
general economic or industry conditions, nationalhg/or in the communities in which our Companyduis business, changes in the int:
rate environment, legislation or regulatory requieats, conditions of the securities markets, oilitylo raise capital, changes in accoun
principles, policies or guidelines, financial orlifoal instability, acts of war or terrorism, othe&conomic, competitive, governmen
regulatory and technical factors affecting our Camps operations, products, services and prices.
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We have based these forwdodking statements on our current expectations assLimptions about future events. While
management considers these expectations and assospd be reasonable, they are inherently suliecignificant business, econon
competitive, regulatory and other risks, continges@nd uncertainties, most of which are diffitalpredict and many of which are beyond
control. Accordingly, results actually achievedyrdiffer materially from expected results in thetatements. Forwatddoking statemen
speak only as of the date they are made. You dlemrisider carefully the statements in this “Itefn Risk Factors’and other sections of tl
report, which describe factors that could causeastwal results to differ from those set forthhe forwardlooking statements. Our Comp:
does not undertake, and specifically disclaims, abljgation to update any forwaldeking statements to reflect events or circumsge
occurring after the date of such statements.

Except as discussed below, a discussion of our fppesicial results is not pertinent to the busingtsn of the Company on a go
forward basis, due to the change in our businesshwbccurred upon consummation of the merger ondd&0, 2007

Overview and Outlook

We are an oil and gas exploration and productionpamy. Our properties are located in Montana, INDdkota and New York. O
corporate strategy is to build shareholder valueugh the development and acquisition of oil and gasets that exhibit economic
producible hydrocarbons.

We currently control the rights to mineral leasasapproximately 215,000 gross acres of land, 1@r@89 acres of land. Our goa
to continue to explore for and develop hydrocarbeithin the mineral leases we control as well astiome to expand our acreage posi
should opportunities present themselves. In aaaccomplish our objectives we will need to achiéwe following;

= Continue to develop our substantial inventory gihhjuality core Bakken acreage with results coestsvith those t-date;
= Retain and attract talented person

= Continue to be a lo-cost producer of hydrocarbons; &

= Continue to manage our financial obligations toesscthe appropriate capital needed to developasitign of primarily undrille
acreage
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The following table sets forth selected operatiatpdor the periods indicated.

derived from accrued accounting data for the relepariod indicated.

Net Production:
Oil (Bbl)
Natural Gas (Mcf

Net Sales:
QOil Sales
Natural Gas
Gain on Derivatives
Total Revenue

Average Sales Prices
Qil (per Bbl)
Effect of oil hedges on average price (per E
Qil net of hedging (per Bb
Natural Gas (per Mct
Effect of natural gas hedges on average priceNjuor
Natural gas net of hedging (per M

Operating Expenses:
Production Expense
Severance Taxe
General and Administrative Exper
Depletion Oil and Gas Properti

Production voluaed average sales prices are

Year End

December 31

2008

Year End
December 31
2007

50,88(
3,96¢

3,510,591
32,391

778,88!

B L HHH

BB PP

Results of Operations for the periods ended Decemb81, 2007 and December 31, 2008.

4,321,87!

75.6%
15.31
90.9/

8.1¢

8.1¢

70,95/
203,18:
2,091,28!
785,50«

$ 4,509,74

Our first well commenced drilling in the fourth qtexr of 2007, and we did not realize revenue frbat tvell until the first quarter

2008. During 2008 we significantly increased orillidg activities, generated income and achievetlearnings in the third and fourth quar

of 2008 and for the 2008 fiscal year as a whole-date, we have developed approximately 1.5% of atat trillable acreage inventory and
expect to continue to add substantial volumes ofipction on a quarter-over-quarter basis going éodanto the foreseeable future.

As of March 16, 2009, we have established produodiiom 46 total wells in which we hold working inésts, only two of which hi
established production as of December 31, 200%. pPaduction at December 31, 2008 approximated E&0els of oil per day, howe\
several wells operated by others were producingigimt chokes and have subsequently been releasgdasing our approximate de
production, with the addition of other completiots approximately 950 barrels of oil per day. Todsnpares to approximately 100 barrel

oil per day as of December 31, 2007.

We drilled with a 100% success rate in 2008 withBa%ken or Three Forks wells completed or compietind three successful F
River discoveries at December 31, 2008. As of Mdlr6, 2009, we expect to participate in the digilof approximately 60 gross oil wells

2009.
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Our expenses in the 2007 fiscal year consistectipatly of general and administrative costs. Oasts increased moderately as we proce
with our development plans in 2008. In the futwe expect to incur increased geologic, geophysaral, engineering costs as we contint
develop our acreage. Total expenses for the tweleeth period ended December 31, 2007, were $41B33and for the twelveronth perio
ended December 31, 2008, were $3,219,019. We mead l@ss of $4,305,293 for the twelwesnth period ended December 31, 2007, an
income of $2,359,751 (representing approximatel@B@er share) for the twelve-month period endecebwer 31, 2008.

Results of Operations for the periods ended Decemb81, 2006 and December 31, 2007.

During 2006, we had no significant operations.|dwing the Merger on March 20, 2007, our operatiams2007 were limite
primarily to technical evaluation of the propertesd the design of development plans to exploitdih@nd gas industry resources on tt
properties as well as seeking opportunities to meqdditional oil and gas properties. Our firglvcommenced drilling in the fourth quarte
2007, and we did not realize revenue from that wedil the first quarter of 2008.

Although we had oil production in the fourth fisagliarter of 2007 we did not receive payment froms firoduction in the fisc
year. As of December 31, 2007, we had establigiteduction from two wells in which we hold small iking interests, compared to
similar activities as of December 31, 2006. Thizduction approximated to 100 barrels of oil per.day

Our expenses in fiscal years 2006 and 2007 codsgstacipally of general and administrative cost@tal expenses for the per
from inception (October 5, 2006) through DecemtierZ)06, were $76,374 and for the twelaenth period ended December 31, 2007,
$4,513,189. We had a net loss of $76,107 for #éo@ from inception (October 5, 2006) through Dmber 31, 2006, and a net loss
$4,305,293 for the twelvaronth period ended December 31, 2007. Of this aapproximately $500,000 consisted of cash expeths
balance was related to share issuance costs wigheliminated in 2008.

Operation Plan

During the next twelve months we plan to continuearnest the development of our oil and gas ptiegeprimarily in the Willisto
Basin Bakken play. We expect to drill 60 gross {eiseven net wells) in 2009 with a total Bakkeiflidg budget of $26 million.

We recognized no revenues from the sale of oil@rgHs in 2007, but recognized $4,321,879 in regsiini 2008. Our future financ
results will depend primarily on: (i) the ability tcontinue to source and screen potential projeg)sthe ability to discover commerc
quantities of oil and gas; (iii) the market priaz bil and gas; and (iv) the ability to fully impleent our exploration and development prog
which is dependent on the availability of capidaources. There can be no assurance that weenslidcessful in any of these respects, thi
prices of oil and gas prevailing at the time ofdurction will be at a level allowing for profitabf@oduction, or that we will be able to obt
additional funding to increase our currently linditeapital resources.

2009 Drilling Projects

In 2009, we intend to continue drilling efforts onr existing acreage covering an aggregate of 80r@ mineral acres in No
Dakota and Montana, and to commence drilling otigpate in at least 60 new gross wells. For aitbetadescription of our drilling activit
see “Properties — Drilling Activity” in Item 2 ofdpt | of this report.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is a measure of a compasyability to meet potential cash requirements. Naee historically met our capital requireme

through the issuance of common stock and by skom torrowings. In the future, we anticipate wédl e able to provide the necess
liquidity by the revenues generated from the safesur oil and
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gas reserves in our existing properties, howevewei do not generate sufficient sales revenues wecantinue to finance ol
operations through equity and/or debt financings.

The following table summarizes total current asstttal current liabilities and working capital Becember 31, 2008. We nc
however, that approximately $2.3 million of Aucti®ate Securities are not classified as currentassel we have subsequently entered i
credit facility with CIT Capital USA, Inc. that weelieve will address both our short-term and loagrt liquidity needs.

Current Assets $ 5,193,213
Current Liabilities $ 13,411,065

Working Capital $(8,217,852)

CIT Capital USA, Inc. Credit Facility

During the second half of the 2008 fiscal year, emtemplated and pursued a variety of means to fumdgrowing capit:
commitments from our drilling activities. We histally have required continuous access to newtaba fund our participation in wells giv
the time delay between our ppayment of drilling expenses and our receipt okreies from completed wells. In light of these seaad oL
managemeng desire to minimize shareholder dilution to théerk practicable, we aggressively pursued a deadilitfato provide funding fa
future drilling and operating needs.

On February 27, 2009, we completed the closing mvalving credit facility with CIT Capital USA Ind“CIT”) that will provide u
to a maximum principal amount of $25 million of Worg capital for exploration and production opevat (the “Facility”). The borrowin
base of funds available under the Facility willredetermined ser@annually based upon the net present value, disedwatt10% per annum,
the future net revenues expected to accrue frormtiésests in proved reserves estimated to be peatifrom its oil and gas properties.
million of financing is initially available undehé Facility. An additional $14 million of finan@ncould become available upon subsec
borrowing base redeterminations based on the dem@oyof funds from the Facility. The Facility teérmates on February 27, 2012.

We have the option to designate the reference ohtanterest for each specific borrowing under thacikty as amounts a
advanced. Borrowings based upon the London int&rioéfering rate (LIBOR) will be outstanding forpeeriod of one, three or six months
designated by us) and bear interest at a rate aqualb0% over the one-month, three-month ormnsoath LIBOR rate to be no less ti
2.50%. Any borrowings not designated as beingdagen LIBOR will have no specified term and gefignaill bear interest at a rate equa
4.50% over the greater of (a) the current thremth LIBOR rate plus 1.0% or (b) the current primage as published by JP Morgan Ct
Bank, N.A. We have the option to designate eifrézing mechanism. Payments are due under thditlydai arrears, in the case of a I
based on LIBOR on the last day of the specified lpariod and in the case of all other loans orakeday of each March, June, Septembe
December. All outstanding principal is due andgidg upon termination of the Facility.

The applicable interest rate increases under thadlitlfaand the lenders may accelerate payments witte Facility, or call a
obligations due under certain circumstances, uporevent of default. The Facility references vasi@yents constituting a default on
Facility, including, but not limited to, failure tpay interest on any loan under the Facility, argtamal violation of any representation
warranty under the Credit Agreement in connectidgth the Facility, failure to observe or perform taén covenants, conditions or agreem
under the Facility, a change in control of our camy default under any other material indebtedmessnight have, bankruptcy and sim
proceedings and failure to pay disbursements fioeslof credit issued under the Facility.

The Facility required that we enter into a swapeagrent with Macquarie Bank Limited (“Macquariet) hedge a total of 118,0
barrels of production in total over the next 36 than The swap covers 5,500 barrels of oil per imémt March 2009 through December 2(
3,000 barrels of oil per month during entire 20&0endar year, 2,000 barrels of oil per month duthng entire 2011 calendar year and 1
barrels of oil per month for January 2012 througibfaary 2012. The constant price of the swapxidfiat $51.25. The hedged productic
estimated to be equal to approximately 10% of 2008 production and less than 5% of productioruwmés in 2010 through 2012.
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All of our obligations under the Facility and the@ap agreements with Macquarie are secured by tgpfiigrity security interest in a
and all assets of the Company pursuant to the tefrasGuaranty and Collateral Agreement and pegtebly a mortgage, notice of pledge
security and similar documents.

Satisfaction of Our Cash Obligations for the NextMonths

With the addition of the CIT Facility, we believeewvill be funded to meet our drilling commitmentsdaexpected general ¢
administrative expenses for the next twelve montiignetheless, any strategic acquisition of agsetg require us to access the capital ma
at some point in 2009. We believe there may btatised situations that will arise in 2009 that megke the acquisition of assets a vi
strategy, and we will evaluate any potential oppaittes as they arise. Given our nleneraged asset base and anticipated growing tash,
we believe we are in a position to take advantdgmyp distressed sales that may occur. Howeveretban be no assurance that any addit
capital will be available to us on favorable teronst all.

Over the next 24 months it is possible that ousting capital, the CIT Facility and anticipated dsnfrom operations may not
sufficient to sustain continued acreage acquisitiGonsequently, we may seek additional capitahan future to fund growth and expans
through additional equity or debt financing or dtédcilities. No assurance can be made that $imelmcing would be available, and if availe
it may take either the form of debt or equity. dither case, the financing could have a negatiygaghon our financial condition and
stockholders.

Though we achieved profitability in 2008, our presfs must be considered in light of the risks, espe and difficulties frequen
encountered by companies in their early stage efaions, particularly companies in the oil and gagloration industry. Such risks inclu
but are not limited to, an evolving and unpredit@aiiusiness model and the management of growthadboess these risks we must, an
other things, implement and successfully executébasiness and marketing strategy, continue toldpvand upgrade technology and prodt
respond to competitive developments, and attratajim and motivate qualified personnel. Therelwxamo assurance that we will be succe
in addressing such risks, and the failure to doaohave a material adverse effect on our busimespects, financial condition and result
operations.

Effects of Inflation and Pricin

The oil and gas industry is very cyclical and tleenénd for goods and services of oil field comparsegpliers and others associ:
with the industry put extreme pressure on the esoaatability and pricing structure within the irglry. Typically, as prices for oil and natt
gas increase, so do all associated costs. Comyersa period of declining prices, associatedt celines are likely to lag and may not ac
downward in proportion. Material changes in pri@dso impact our current revenue stream, estimakesiture reserves, borrowing bi
calculations of bank loans, impairment assessnudras and gas properties, and values of propertigairchase and sale transactions. Ma
changes in prices can impact the value of oil sasl@mpanies and their ability to raise capitatrd® money and retain personnel. While
do not currently expect business costs to matgriattrease, higher prices for oil and natural gasld result in increases in the cost:
materials, services and personnel.

Going Concern

The financial statements included in our filingsvédeen prepared in conformity with generally ategmccounting principles tt
contemplate the continuance of the Company as mggodncern. Management may use borrowings andrise@ales to improve tl
Companys cash position; however, no assurance can be dhandebt or equity financing, if and when reqdjrevill be available. Tt
financial statements do not include any adjustmeelisting to the recoverability and classificatiohrecorded assets and classificatio
liabilities that might be necessary should the Canypbe unable to continue existence. The auditeh€ial statements for Kentex for
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, containedtarsent by the auditors indicating their
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uncertainty that Kentex would be able to continseadgoing concern.” The “going concerdisclosure is not presented in the re
of our auditors filed herewith, and we believe ttia “going concerntisclosure will not be required in our next pubdidhfinancials due
equity capital raised by the Company in 2007 ar@B20

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As of December 31, 2008, we did not have any medtkmgierm debt obligations, capital lease obligationmerating lease obligatio
or purchase obligations requiring future paymentsept our office lease that expires on January 21,3, and contains a base ren
approximately $142,459 in 2009 and escalating uapfroximately $160,236 during the final lease year

Summary of Product Research and Development ThawWl/@erform For the Term of Our Plan

We do not anticipate performing any significantguot research and development under our plan afatipa until such time as \
can raise adequate working capital to sustain paragions.

Expected Purchase or Sale of Any Significant Eqaig

We do not anticipate the purchase or sale of aagtpr significant equipment as such items arereqtired by us at this time
anticipated to be needed in the next twelve months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently do not have any dilance sheet arrangements that have or are rddgdiRaly to have a current or future effect ornr
financial condition, changes in financial conditioevenues or expenses, results of operationsditgucapital expenditures or capital resou
that is material to investors.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk
Commodity Price Risk

The price we receive for our oil and natural gasdpction heavily influences our revenue, profitiyilaccess to capital and future |
of growth. Crude oil and natural gas are commeslitind, therefore, their prices are subject to Widsguations in response to relatively mi
changes in supply and demand. Historically, thekata for oil and gas have been volatile, and timeaekets will likely continue to be volat
in the future. The prices we receive for our pithn depend on numerous factors beyond our con@oir revenue during 2008 gener
would have increased or decreased along with atneases or decreases in oil prices, but the ergmhdt on our income is indeterming
given the variety of expenses associated with prioguand selling oil that also increase and deer@ésng with oil prices.

We have previously entered into derivative consrdot achieve a more predictable cash flow by redyacur exposure to oil a
natural gas price volatility. Our derivative cats have historically qualified for cash flow hedazcounting, whereby accounting rules a
the aggregate change in fair market value to berdecl as accumulated other comprehensive inconmss)(ldrecognition of derivati
settlement gains and losses in the statementscofria occurs in the period that hedged productidnrmwes are sold. We did not have
outstanding hedges as of December 31, 2008.

Our Facility with CIT, however, required that wedge certain amounts of production through Febru20¢2. For a detaile

description of the hedging program, see “Liquidityd Capital Resources — CIT Capital USA, Inc. Qre&dkility” in Item 7 of Part Il of thi
report. In general, we do not expect to use hetlggend the extent required by our lenders.
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Interest Rate Risk

We did not have outstanding any credit facilitiesother obligations that would subject us to siigaifit interest rate risk at Decem
31, 2008. Our Facility entered into with CIT onbFeary 27, 2009, will, however, subject us to iattrrate risk on borrowings under 1
facility.

Our Facility with CIT allows us to fix the interesite of borrowings under our Facility for all opartion of the principal balance fo
period up to six months. To the extent the interate is fixed, interest rate changes affect tisgruments fair market value but do not imp
results of operations or cash flows. Conversealy tfie portion of our borrowings that has a flogtinterest rate, interest rate changes wil
affect the fair market value but will impact futuesults of operations and cash flows.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our Financial Statements required by this itemiactuded on the pages immediately following thedxdo Financial Statemel
appearing on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a system of disclosure controls andgutares that is designed to ensure that informatiqoired to be disclosed in «
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, suimedaand reported within the time periods specifiethe SECS rules and forms, and tl
such information is accumulated and communicateautomanagement, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial Officer,
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosures.

As of December 31, 2008, our management, includimg Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ©ffr, had evaluated t
effectiveness of the design and operation of oseldsure controls and procedures (as defined im&ge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 1Hs(e)
pursuant to Rule 13a5(b) under the Exchange Act. Based upon and #leoflate of the evaluation, our Chief Executivéigef and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that information reearto be disclosed is recorded, processed, sunedagrd reported within the specil
periods and is accumulated and communicated to geament, including our Chief Executive Officer anbi€® Financial Officer, to allow fc
timely decisions regarding required disclosure dftemial information required to be included in queriodic SEC reports. Based on
foregoing, our management determined that ouralsice controls and procedures were effective &eoémber 31, 2008.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing raathtaining adequate internal control over finahe@gporting, as such term
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13&(f). The design of any system of controls isellis part upon certain assumptions about theitigetl o
future events, and there can be no assurance rigatlesign will succeed in achieving its stated gaaider all potential future conditio
regardless of how remote. All internal control teyss, no matter how well designed, have inherenttdtions. Because of its inher
limitations, internal control over financial repiaig may not prevent or detect misstatements. Btiojes of any evaluation of effectivenes
future periods are subject to the risk that costrohy become inadequate because of changes intioosdior that the degree of complia
with the policies or procedures may deterioratber&fore, even those
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systems determined to be effective can provide aeBsonable assurance with respect to financiabratnt preparation a
presentation.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervisiod with the participation of our Chief Executi@éficer and Chief Financi
Officer, of the effectiveness of our internal catdr over financial reporting as of December 31, 0 making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Cdeniof Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwayn@asion (COSO) in Ihterna
Control-Integrated Framework.Based on this assessment, management believesathaf, December 31, 2008, our internal control
financial reporting was effective based on tho$eiga. There have been no changes in internakabater financial reporting since Decem
31, 2008, that has materially affected or is reabbnlikely to materially affect our internal coatrover financial reporting.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has beéditealiby Mantyla McReynol
LLC, an independent registered public accounting fias stated in their report which is includecdeiren the following page.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Northern QOil and Gas, Inc

We have audited Northern Oil and Gas, Ia¢the Company) internal control over financialoging as of December 31, 2008, based on cr
established in Internal Controlirtegrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpang Organizations of the Treadway Commis
(COSO0). The Compang’management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and ts assessment
the effectiveness of internal control over finahecigporting included in the accompanying ManagernseAnnual Report on Internal Cont
Over Financial Reporting (Item 9A). Our respondipils to express an opinion on the Companipnternal control over financial reporting ba
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadslof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8a&@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditndéinal control over financial reporting includetaining an understanding of internal cor
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evaty#tie design and operating effectivene:
internal control based on the assessed risk. Odit also included performing such other procedumeswe considered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @gpess designed to provide reasonable assurancaeliregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsdor external purposes in accordance with gelyeescepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclsdnose policies and procedures that (1) pertathéaonaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assut
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@gamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef company are being made only in accordance withogéizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalskurance regarding prevention or timely deteaifounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @tteisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fical reporting as of December 31, 2(
based on criteria established in Internal Contrioitegrated Framework issued by the Committee oihSpong Organizations of the Tready
Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the stadsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@nited States), the balance sh
and the related statements of operations, stockhslldquity and comprehensive income, and cash flowtlkefCompany, and our report de
March 16, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion.

Mantyla McReynolds LLC
Salt Lake City, Utah
March 16, 2009
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Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.
PART Il

We are incorporating by reference information enis 10 through 14 below from the definitive proxgtement for our 2009 Annt
Meeting of Stockholders, which we intend to filgtwihe SEC not later than 120 days subsequent¢erbeer 31, 2008.

Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govere

The information required by this Item is incorpectby reference to the definitive proxy statementdur 2009 Annual Meeting
Stockholders, which we intend to file with the SB@t later than 120 days subsequent to Decembe?®I8. We provided the informati
required by this item with respect to our executificers in Part | of this report pursuant to Itd@i (b) of Regulation S-K.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorpeetby reference to the definitive proxy statementdur 2009 Annual Meeting
Stockholders, which we intend to file with the SE@ later than 120 days subsequent to Decemb&(BB.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners amdanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorpactby reference to the definitive proxy statementdur 2009 Annual Meeting
Stockholders, which we intend to file with the SE@ later than 120 days subsequent to Decemb&(RB.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, adaector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorpactby reference to the definitive proxy statementdur 2009 Annual Meeting
Stockholders, which we intend to file with the SE@ later than 120 days subsequent to Decemb&(BB.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorp@etby reference to the definitive proxy statementdur 2009 Annual Meeting
Stockholders, which we intend to file with the SE@ later than 120 days subsequent to Decemb&(RB.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@) The following documents are filedpast of this report:

1. Financial Statementi
See Index to Financial Statements on page F-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedu
All schedules are omitted because they are eitbieapplicable or required information is shownhe financial statements or
notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdiBits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthe annual report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidthas duly caused this repol
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

Date: March 16, 200¢ By: /s/ Michael Rege

Michael Rege
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed béipwhe following persons
behalf of the registrant and in the capacity andhendates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl Michael L. Rege Chief Executive Officer, Director and Secret March 16, 200¢
Michael L. Rege
i Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial OffiGe March 16, 200¢
/s/ Ryan R. Gilbertso Principal Accounting Officer, Directc
Ryan R. Gilbertsol
/s/ Loren J. ( Toole Director March 16, 2009
Loren J. CToole
/sl Carter Stewal Director March 16, 2009
Carter Stewar
/sl Jack King Director March 16, 200¢
Jack King
/s/ Robert Grabl Director March 16, 200¢
Robert Grabt
/s/ Lisa Bromiley Meie Director March 16, 200¢

Lisa Bromiley Meiet
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Northern QOil and Gas, Inc

We have audited the accompanying balance shedisrttiern Oil and Gas, Inc. (the Company) as of Drewer 31, 2008 an@007, and the

related statements of operations, stockholderstygad comprehensive income, and cash flows fohexdi the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2008. These financial stateraeathe responsibility of the Company’s managent@ut responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlgUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@dlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results opisations and its cash flows for each of the yematise three-year period ended December
31, 2008 in conformity with accounting principlesngrally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of [@etber 31, 2008, based on criteria establishedt@rial Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COSQO), and our regattd March 16, 2009 expressed an
unqualifed opinion.

Mantyla McReynolds LLC
Salt Lake City, Utah
March 16, 2009
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2001

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalel
Trade Receivable
Other Receivabl
Prepaid Drilling Cost
Prepaid Expense
Deferred Tax Asset

Total Current Assetl

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Oil and Natural Gas Properties, Full Cost Methiadl(ding unevaluated cost
$42,621,297 at 12/31/2008 and $7,587,511 at 1208%7))
Other Property and Equipment

Total Property and Equipme
Less - Accumulated Depreciation and Depletion
Total Property and Equipment, N

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

DEFERRED TAX ASSET

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payabl
Line of Credit
Accrued Expense
Accrued Drilling Cost:
Other Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Total Liabilities

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock, Par Value $.001; 100,000,000 Auteaki34,120,10
Outstanding (200- 28,695,922 Shares Outstandil
Additional Pai+-In Capital
Accumulated Defici
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (L

Total Stockholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

December 31

2008 2007
$ 780,71¢ $ 10,112,66
2,028,94 -
874,45: -
4,54¢ 364,29

71,55¢ 25,68(
1,433,001 -
5,193,21. 10,502,63
55,680,56 7,587,51.
408,40( 44,76
56,088,96 7,632,28
856,01( 3,44¢
55,232,095 7,628,83.
2,416,36! ;
33,00( -

$ 62,87553 $ 18,131,46
$ 193481 $ 113,25
1,650,721 -
1,270,07! 110,99:
8,419,72 ;
135,73 -
13,411,06 224,24
13,411,06 224,24
34,12 28,69
51,692,77 22,259,92
(2,021,64)  (4,381,40)
(240,77:) -
49,464,47 17,907,21
$ 62,87553 $ 18,131,46

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, AND 2007 ANDIHE PERIOD
FROM INCEPTION (OCTOBER 5, 2006) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2006

From
Inception or
October 5
2006
Through
Year Ended December 2 December 31
2008 2007 2006
REVENUES
Oil and Gas Sale $ 3,542,99. $ - 3% -
Gain on Derivative 778,88! - -
Total Revenue 4,321,87! - -
OPERATING EXPENSES
Production Expense 70,95/ - -
Severance Taxe 203,18: - -
General and Administrative Exper 2,091,28! 4,509,74. 76,37+
Depletion of Oil and Gas Properti 785,50: - -
Depreciation and Amortizatic 67,06( 3,44¢ -
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obligas 1,03( - -
Total Expenses 3,219,01! 4,513,18! 76,37+
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 1,102,86 (4,513,18) (76,379
OTHER INCOME 383,89: 207,89t 267
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES 1,486,75. (4,305,29) (76,107
INCOME TAX PROVISION (BENEFIT) (873,000 - -
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 2,359,75 $ (4,305,29) $ (76,107
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share — Basic anatéil $ 0.07 $ (0.1¢) $ (0.07)
Weighted Average Shares Outstanc— Basic 31,920,74 23,667,11 18,000,00
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Diluted 32,653,55 23,667,11 18,000,00

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, AND 2007 ANDIHE PERIOD
FROM INCEPTION (OCTOBER 5, 2006) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2006

Balance at Inception (October 5, 200€
Common Stock Issue

Compensation Related Stock Opt
Grants

Net Income (Loss
Balance- December 31, 2001

Payment on Stock Subscriptic
Receivable

Sale of 2,501,573 Common Shares
$1.05 Per Shar

Private Placement Cos

Issued 400,000 Common Share!
Montana QOil anc
Gas, Inc. for Leasehold Intere

Issued 271,440 Shares to Southfork
Exploration, LLC
for Leasehold Intere:

Balance Immediately Prior to Reverse
Acquisition
with Kentex

Reverse Acquisition with Kente

Recapitalization of NOG with Kentex

Common
Stock Issued in the Acquisition (F
Value
Changed to $.001 Per Sha
Acquisition of Kentey
Legal Fee:
Introduction Fe¢
Payment to Kentex Stockholde
Other Professional Fees

Totals of Reverse Acquisition

Balance Immediately After Reverse
Acquisition
with Kentex

Shares Issued Pursuant to Consul
Agreement:

Issued 100,000 Shares to Insight Cay
Consultants

Accumulatec

Other Total
Additional Stock Comprehensiv Stockholder:

Common Stocl Paic-In  Subscription Income Accumulate: Equity

Shares Amount Capital Receivable (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
-$ -9 -3 -$ -$ -$ =
18,000,000 1,80( - (1,400 - - 40C
- - 38,57¢ - - - 38,57¢
- - - - - (76,107 (76,107
18,000,000 1,80( 38,57t (1,400 - (76,107 (37,13))
- - - 1,40( - - 1,40(
2,501,57. 25C 2,626,400 - - - 2,626,65.
- - (9,937 - - - (9,939
400,00( 40 419,96( - - - 420,00(
271,44( 27 284,98! - - - 285,01:
21,173,01 2,117  3,359,98 - - (76,107  3,285,99
- 19,05¢ (29,05¢) - - - -
1,491,110 1,491 (1,49)) - - - -
- - (25,000 - - - (25,000
- - (12,500 - - - (12,500
- - (377,500 - - - (377,500
- - (36,067) - - - (36,067)
1,491,11 20,547 (471,609 - - - (451,067)
22,664,12 22,66« 2,888,38! - - (76,107 2,834,93
73,50( 74 380,65¢ - - - 380,73(
100,00( 10C 474,90( - - - 475,00(



Compensation Related Stock Option
Grants -

Sale of 4,545,455 Common Shares for

$3.30 Per Shar 4,545 ,45!
(unit placement

Private Placement Costs net of Warran

Granted to Agen -

Issued 115,000 Common Shares to
Montana QOil anc

Gas Properties, LLC for Leasehold

Interest 115,00(
Issued 275,000 Common Shares to
Gallatin

Resources, LLC for Leasehold Inter 275,00(
Issued 75,000 Shares as Compens: 75,00(
Repurchase of 152,156 Common Sh: (152,15¢)

Issued Pursuant to Exercise of Optir 1,000,001

Net Income (Loss) -

4,54¢

115

27¢

75

2,366,41

14,995,45

(1,191,00)

577,18!

1,380,22!

388,42!

(152) (1,049,72)

1,00(

1,049,001

- 2,366,41

- 15,000,00

- (1,191,00)

= 577,30(

- 1,380,50
- 388,50
- (1,049,87)

- 1,050,001

(4,305,29)  (4,305,29)

Balance- December 31, 200 28,695,92 $

Issued 7,500 Shares to Roe|
Communications for service 7,50(

Issued 215,381 Common Share:!
Montana Qil anc
Gas Properties, LLC for Leasehc

Interest 215,38:
Issued 20,000 Common Shares
Restricted Stock for employee servit 20,00(
Listing Fee Paid to American Sto
Exchange -
Issued Pursuant to Exercise of Opti 260,00(

Issued Pursuant to Exercise of Warre 4,818,18I
Warrant Exercise Cos -
Stock Grant Compensatic -

Issued 7,675 Common Shares to Miss
River Royalty
Corp. for Leasehold Intere 14,745

Issued 67,500 Common Shares to
Deephavel
for Leasehold Intere: 67,50(

Issued 15,902 Common Sharesto T
City
Technical, LLC for Leasehold Intere 15,90:

Issued 4,465 Common Shares to Turm

Inc
for Leasehold Intere: 4,46¢

Issued 500 Common Shares to Dz

28,69¢ $22,259,92 $

8

21E

20

26C

4,81¢

15

68

16

49,867

1,165,07

(20)

(65,000)

933,54(

25,977,24

(77,20)

105,37

146,87t

557,14!

167,31t

46,491.01

$ (4,381,40) $ 17,907,21

- 49,87¢

- 1,165,29:

- (65,000)

- 933,80(

- 25,982,06

- (77,209

- 105,37¢

= 146,89:

- 557,21

- 167,33:

- 46,49t



Bickerstaff

for Leasehold Intere: 50C 1 1,14¢ - - - 1,15C
Unrealized Losses on Auction Rate
Securities - - - - (240,779 - (240,779
Income Tax Benefit from Options
Exercisec 425,00( 425,00(
Net Income (Loss) - - - - - 2,359,75 2,359,75
Balance— December 31, 200: 34,120,10 $ 34,127 $51,692,77 $ - $ (240,779 $ (2,021,64) $ 49,464,47.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.




NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2007 ANDIHE PERIOD

FROM INCEPTION (OCTOBER 5, 2006) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2006

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Income (Loss
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Slash Provided b
(Used for) Operating Activitie
Depletion of Qil and Gas Properti
Depreciation and Amortizatic
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obligas
Income Tax Benefi
Issuance of Stock for Consulting F¢
Loss on Sale of Available for Sale Securi
Issuance of Stock for Compensat
Market Value Adjustment of Derivative Instrume
Lease Incentives Receiv
Amortization of Deferred Ret
Share- Based Compensation Exper
Changes in Working Capital and Other lte
Increase in Trade Receivab
Increase in Other Receivab
Increase in Prepaid Expen:
Increase in Accounts Payal
Increase in Accrued Expens
Net Cash Provided by (Used For) Operating Actig

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of Office Equipment and Furni
Decrease (Increase) in Prepaid Drilling C«
Proceeds from Sale of Oil and Gas Prope
Increase in Accrued Drilling Cos

Deposits

Purchase of Available for Sale Securi
Proceeds from sale of Available for Sale Secw
Increase in Oil and Gas Propert

Net Cash Used For Investing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase in Line of Cred

Proceeds from (Repayments of) Convertible NotgmbBla (Related Part
Cash Paid for Listing Fe

Proceeds from Derivative

Proceeds from Investor Subscripti- Net of Issuance Cos

Proceeds from the Issuance of Common S- Net of Issuance Cos
Proceeds from Exercise of Stock Optis

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activiti

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALEN TS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF PERIOD

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF PERIOD

From
Inception or
October 5
2006
Through
Year Ended December & December 31
2008 2007 2006
$ 2,359,75 $ (4,305,29) $ (76,107
785,50 - -
67,06( 3,44¢ -
1,03( - -
(873,001) - -
49,87¢ 855,73( -
381 - -
- 388,50( -
(95,149 - -
91,32( - -
(17,026 - -
105,37! 2,366,41 38,57¢
(2,028,94) - -
(874,45)) - -
(45,879 (24,55¢) (2,000
1,821,55! 113,25« -
1,159,08: 110,99: -
2,506,49; (491,509 (38,537)
(363,63)) (44,769 -
359,74 (364,29() -
468,60 - -
8,419,72! - -
- - (255,000
(3,800,52) - -
975,00( - -
(46,416,88) (4,669,69) -
(40,357,96) (5,078,75) (255,00()
1,650,72I -
- (165,00() 365,00(
(65,000 - -
95,14¢ - -
- - 778,06°
25,904,85 14,997,99 40C
933,80( - -
28,519,52 14,832,99 1,143,46
(9,331,94) 9,262,72! 849,93!
10,112,66 849,93! -
$ 780,71¢ $ 10,112,66 $ 849,93!




Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatior
Cash Paid During the Period for Inter

Cash Paid During the Period for Income Ta

Nor-Cash Financing and Investing Activitie
Purchase of Oil and Gas Properties through Issuah€ommon Stoc

Payment of Consulting Fees through Issuance ofr@@mStock
Payment of Compensation through Issuance of Camstock
Cashless Exercise of Stock Options

Capitalized Asset Retirement Obligations

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2008

NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (tt*‘Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” and words of similamport) is a growth-oriented independent energy camp
engaged in the acquisition, exploration, explaitatand development of oil and natural gas propertirior to March 20, 2007, our name was
“Kentex Petroleum, Inc.” The Company took its gmesform on March 20, 2007, when Kentex completed-agalled short-form merger with
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Northern Oil and Gim. (“NOG”), a Nevada corporation engaged in tlempany’s current business, in which
NOG merged into Kentex and Kentex was the survieintity. The Compar's common stock trades on the American Stock Exghamder
the symbol “NOG”.

The Company will continue to focus on projectshia bil and gas industry primarily based in the Rolountains and specifically the
Williston Basin Bakken Shale formation. The Compéaag begun to develop its substantial leasehdigeBakken play and will continue to
so as well as target additional opportunities ireegimg plays utilizing its first mover leasing adtage. We participate on a heads up basis in
the drilling of wells on our leasehold. We own Wiog interest in wells, and do not lease land terafors. To this point we have participated
only in wells operated by others but have a sulistanventory of high working interest locatiortsat we will likely drill in 2009 and

beyond. We believe the advantage gained by paaticig as a non-operating partner in the 46 grdsgells completed in 2008 has given us
valuable data on completions and will help to cointrell costs and enhance results as we beginuelde our high working interest sections in
mid-2009.

The Company participates on a heads up basis gropate to its working interest in a declared drdlunit. Although to this point we have
participated with only minority interests rangirrgrh 1% to 42%, we expect to participate in thelidglof incrementally higher working
interest drilling units, eventually operating oubstantial inventory of high working interest drity units with a range of 40% to 100%
ownership. We control approximately 70,000 neeadn the growing North Dakota Bakken Play. Thisases us to 110 net wells based on
640 acre spacing units. To be more specific, itk a well and participate with a 25% workingenest, this counts towards this total as a
guarter of one well. Down spacing in the fieldlyibtentially expose us to significantly more wells development continues on “held by
production” acreage. Further, the productivitylod fThree Forks/Sanish and secondary recovery exgosesubstantially more potential
reserves.

Our land acquisition and field operations, alonthwiarious other services, are primarily outsourttedugh the use of consultants and drilling
partners. The Company will continue to retain peledent contractors to assist in operating and giagahe prospects as well as to carry out
the principal and necessary functions incidentahéooil and gas business. With the additionaliaition of oil and natural gas properties, the
Company intends to continue to use both in-houggl@raes and outside consultants to develop andixys leasehold interests.

As an independent oil and gas producer, the Comparyenue, profitability and future rate of grovatle substantially dependent on prevai
prices of natural gas and oil. Historically, theesgy markets have been very volatile and it isljikhat oil and gas prices will continue to be
subject to wide fluctuations in the future. A stalmgial or extended decline in natural gas angides could have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s financial position, results of opierad, cash flows and access to capital, and onuhetities of natural gas and oil reserves that
can be economically produced. As of December 308 20e substantial decline in oil prices has nfacéd the Company’s financial position

in a material amount.
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NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

These financial statements have been preparecordance with generally accepted accounting priasipn the United States of America
(“GAAP”).

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Lehgrm Investments

The Company considers highly liquid investmentdirissignificant interest rate risk and original ovdties to the Company of three months or
less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalentsstqmsnarily of interest-bearing bank accounts amshey market funds. Our cash positions
represent assets held in checking and money macketnts. These assets are generally available do a daily or weekly basis and are
highly liquid in nature. Due to the balances bejngater than $250,000, we do not have FDIC coeeoethe entire amount of bank
deposits. The company believes this risk is mihinha addition, we are subject to SIPC protectiona vast majority of our financial assets,
specifically $657,363 of cash and cash equivalantsall of our long-term investments.

Other Property and Equipment

Property and equipment that are not oil and gapgsties are recorded at cost and depreciated tsingtraight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of three to five years. éndlitures for replacements, renewals, and bettdeaea capitalized. Maintenance and repairs
are charged to operations as incurred. Long-lagsets, other than oil and gas properties, are@eal for impairment to determine if current
circumstances and market conditions indicate theyicey amount may not be recoverable. We haveeagnized any impairment losses on
non oil and gas long-lived assets. Depreciatiggeage was $67,070 for the year ended Decembe088, 2

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company records the fair value of a liability &n asset retirement obligation in the periodliich the asset is acquired and a
corresponding increase in the carrying amount efréfated long-lived asset. The liability is ateceto its present value each period, and the
capitalized cost is depreciated over the usefeldifthe related asset. If the liability is settfer an amount other than the recorded amount, a
gain or loss is recognized.

Revenue Recognition and Gas Balancing

We recognize oil and gas revenues from our intefiegproducing wells when production is deliveredand title has transferred to, the
purchaser and to the extent the selling pricedsarably determinable. We use the sales methadooiunting for gas balancing of gas
production and would recognize a liability if thesting proven reserves were not adequate to dbweecurrent imbalance situation. As of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, our gas productionimiaalance, i.e., our cumulative portion of gasdorction taken and sold from wells in
which we have an interest equaled our entitled@stein gas production from those wells.
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StockBased Compensation

The Company has accounted for stock-based compemsaider the provisions of Statement of Finan&ieounting Standards No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment.” This statement requirés tescord an expense associated with the fair vaflis¢ock-based compensation. We
currently use the Black-Scholes option valuatiordeddo calculate stock based compensation at tteealarant. Option pricing models
require the input of highly subjective assumptidnsluding the expected price volatility. Changeshese assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimate.

The average risk-free interest rate is determirstdguthe U.S. Treasury rate in effect as of the déigrant, based on the expected term of the
stock option.

Options Granted November 1, 2007

On November 1, 2007, the Board of Directors grasi®@ 000 options to board members and one emplojke.total fair value of the options
was recoghized as compensation in 2007 as thenggisowere immediately vested. In computing theetqal volatility, we used the combined
historical volatility of the Company * s common skdfor a one-month period and the blended histbvickatility for two of our peer companies
over a period of four years and eleven monthscomputing the exercise price we used the averagging/last trade price of the Company’s
common stock for the five highest volume tradingsdduring the 30-day trading period ending on #s¢ trading day preceding the date of the
grants.

The following assumptions were used for the Blackees model:

November 1
2007
Risk free rate: 4.36%
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 56%
Weighted average expected stock option 5 Years

The “fair market value” at the date of grant fava¢ options granted using the formula relied upmmchlculating the exercise price is as
follows:

Weighted average fair value per sh $ 2,72
Total options grante 560,00(
Total weighted average fair value of options grdi $ 1,524,99

Options Granted December 15, 2006

For the options granted in 2006 we used a baskstraparable companies to determine the volatitiput. We believe this fairly represents
volatility we may trade on were we a public companhyhe time of issuance. The total fair valu¢hef options was recognized as compens
over the one-year vesting period. All of the optigranted in 2006 have been exercised as of Dewe3ib 2008.

The following assumptions were used for the Blackedes model:

December 31

2006
Risk Free Rate 4.75%
Dividend Yield 0%
Expected Volatility 64%
Weighted Average Expected Stock Option | 10 Years
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The weighted average fair value at the date oftgarstock options granted is as follows:

Weighted Average Fair Value Per Sh $ .8C
Total options grante 1,100,001
Total Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Grar $ 880,00(

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under FAGR:®ent No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.”féged income tax assets and
liabilities are determined based upon differencetsvben the financial reporting and tax bases adtasmd liabilities and are measured usin
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effdeémthe differences are expected to reverse. SASequires the consideration of a valua
allowance for deferred tax assets if it is “mokely than not” that some component or all of thedfis of deferred tax assets will not be
realized.

Stock Issuance

The Company records the stock-based compensatiardavwssued to non-employees and other externigiberfor goods and services at either
the fair market value of the goods received orises/rendered on the instruments issued in exchfangeich services, whichever is more
readily determinable, using the measurement datketjues enumerated in EITF No. 96-18, “AccountingEquity Instruments That Are
Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring o€onjunction with Selling, Goods, or Services.”

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh

Net Income (Loss) per common share is based oN¢héncome (Loss) divided by weighted average nurobeommon shares outstandii

Diluted earnings per share are computed using wetiigliverage number of common shares plus dilubventon share equivalents outstanding
during the period using the treasury stock meth&slthe Company has a loss for the period endeémber 31, 2007 the potentially dilutive
shares are anti-dilutive and are thus not addedtlve earnings per share calculation.

Full Cost Method

The Company follows the full cost method of accagnfor oil and gas operations whereby all coslateel to the exploration and development
of oil and gas properties are initially capitalizatb a single cost center (“full cost pool”). $ueosts include land acquisition costs, geological
and geophysical expenses, carrying charges on razhugping properties, costs of drilling directlyatdd to acquisition, and exploration
activities. Internal costs that are capitalizegl directly attributable to acquisition, exploratiand development activities and do not include
costs related to the production, general corparaéehead or similar activities. Costs associatéll production and general corporate activi
are expensed in the period incurred.

As of December 31, 2008 we controlled approxima22y)00 net acres of leaseholds in Sheridan CoMuptana with primary targets
including the Red River and Mission Canyon. We oafed approximately 70,000 net acres in North Dakprimarily in Mountrail County,
targeting the Bakken Shale and approximately 10r@@cres in Yates County, New York that is pretipe for Marcellus Shale and Trenton-
Black River natural gas production. See Note Jafoexplanation of activities on these properties.

Proceeds from property sales will generally be iteeldo the full cost pool, with no gain or lossognized, unless such a sale would
significantly alter the relationship between capitad costs and the proved reserves attributablleese costs. A significant alteration would
typically involve a sale of 25% or more of the pedveserves related to a single full cost poolthtnyear ended December 31, 2008 the
Company sold acreage for $468,609. The proceedhdse sales were applied to reduce the capithtiasts of oil and gas properties.

Capitalized costs associated with impaired properind capitalized cost related to properties lgapinoved reserves, plus the estimated future
development costs, asset retirement costs undem$&tat of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148c¢@unting for Asset Retirement
Obligations” (SFAS 143) are depleted and amortmedhe unit-of-production method based on the estiohgross proved reserves as
determined by independent petroleum engineers. cobis of unproved properties are withheld fromdepletion base until such time as they
are either developed or abandoned. When provedves are assigned or the property is considerbd tmpaired, the cost of the property or
the amount of the impairment is added to costsestitp depletion calculations.
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Capitalized costs of oil and gas properties (nettzted deferred income taxes) may not exceedrenuat equal to the present value,
discounted at 10% per annum, of the estimateddutet cash flows from proved oil and gas reseriestpe cost of unevaluated properties
(adjusted for related income tax effects). Shaalgitalized costs exceed this ceiling, impairmenecognized. The present value of estimated
future net cash flows is computed by applying pkeod prices of oil and natural gas to estimatéakéuproduction of proved oil and gas
reserves as of period-end, less estimated futyrenshitures to be incurred in developing and prauythe proved reserves and assuming
continuation of existing economic conditions. Specbsent value of proved reserves’ future net flasys excludes future cash outflows
associated with settling asset retirement obligatithat have been accrued on the Balance Shdeiniioyy SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
106). Should this comparison indicate an excesyiog value, the excess is charged to earningmampairment expense. The unamortized
cost of the Company’s oil and gas properties didexaeed the ceiling limit as of December 31, 2008erefore, the Company was not
required to writedown the net capitalized cost&bil and gas properties at December 31, 2008thiE point the company has not realized
any impairment of its properties due to our lowibas the acreage and productivity and economicsuofproducing wells, even in the current
lower price environment.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements under gdlyesiccepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in tbiaited States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discséicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the repomeolats of revenues and expenses during the reggréiriod. The most significant estimates
relate to proved oil and natural gas reserve volyrgure development costs, estimates relatirggttain oil and natural gas revenues and
expenses, and deferred income taxes. Actual sesdy differ from those estimates.

Derivative Instruments and Price Risk Management

The Company uses derivative instruments from tiongénte to manage market risks resulting from flatiens in the prices of oil and natural
gas. The Company may periodically enter into dgie contracts, including price swaps, caps amaordl, which require payments to (or
receipts from) counterparties based on the dift@aEbetween a fixed price and a variable priceddixed quantity of oil or natural gas without
the exchange of underlying volumes. The notionabants of these financial instruments would be Baseexpected production from existing
wells. The Company has, and may continue to uskasmge traded futures contracts and option costtadiedge the delivery price of oil at a
future date.

Derivatives are recorded on the balance sheetratdflue and changes in the fair value of derivediare recorded each period in current
earnings or other comprehensive income, dependingh@ther a derivative is designated as part &fdgé transaction and, if it is, depending
on the type of hedge transaction. The Compadgrivatives consist primarily of cash flow hedigmsactions in which the Company is hed
the variability of cash flows related to a foreeabstransaction. Period to period changes in thevédue of derivative instruments designated as
cash flow hedges are reported in other comprehernsoome and reclassified to earnings in the perindvhich the contracts are settled. The
ineffective portion of the cash flow hedges is iggtaed in current period earnings as income orfiasa derivative. Gains and losses on
derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedgcounting are included in income or loss fromivdéve in the period in which they

occur. The resulting cash flows from derivatives i@ported as cash flows from operating activities
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At the inception of a derivative contract or upderitification of hedged production to which a dative contract applies, the Company may
designate the derivative as a cash flow hedge.alFderivatives designated as cash flow hedgesCitmpany formally documents the
relationship between the derivative contract ardnbdged items, as well as the risk managementtolgdor entering into the derivative
contract. To be designated as a cash flow hedgedction, the relationship between the derivativetthe hedged items must be highly
effective in achieving the offset of changes inhcisws attributable to the risk both at the inéeptof the derivative and on an ongoing
basis. The Company measures hedge effectivenessjoarterly basis and hedge accounting is diswoedi prospectively if it is determined
that the derivative is no longer effective in offsgy changes in the cash flows of the hedged it&ains and losses deferred in accumulated
other comprehensive income related to cash flovgaetdrivatives that become ineffective remain unged until the related production is
delivered. If the Company determines that it isbyable that a hedged forecasted transaction wilbocur, deferred gains or losses on the
derivative are recognized in earnings immediat@ge Note 14 for a description of the derivativetracts which the Company executed du
2008.

Impairment

SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment and Dispo$&.ong-Lived Assets, requires that long-livedets to be held and used be reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in cigtances indicate that the carrying amount of aetasay not be recoverable. Oil and gas
properties accounted for using the full cost metbbaccounting (which we use) are excluded frora thquirement but continue to be subject
to the full cost method'’s impairment rules.

New Accounting Pronouncemer

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement ofn€iahand Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141(Bsiness Combinations.” SFAS
141(R) changes the accounting for and reportingusfness combination transactions in the followiray: Recognition with certain exceptic
of 100% of the fair values of assets acquiredjlitsds assumed, and non controlling interestsanfudred businesses; measurement of all
acquirer shares issued in consideration for a lkegsicombination at fair value on the acquisitioreda@cognition of contingent consideration
arrangements at their acquisition date fair valugth, subsequent changes in fair value generaflgeed in earnings; recognition of pre-
acquisition gain and loss contingencies at thejugsition date fair value; capitalization of in-pess research and development (IPR&D) asset:
acquired at acquisition date fair value; recognitdd acquisition-related transaction costs as es@avhen incurred; recognition of acquisition-
related restructuring cost accruals in acquisiiooounting only if the criteria in Statement No6 lte met as of the acquisition date; and
recognition of changes in the acquirer’s incomevalxation allowance resulting from the businesnloimation separately from the business
combination as adjustments to income tax expe8§AS No. 141(R) is effective for the first annugporting period beginning on or after
December 15, 2008 with earlier adoption prohibit@the adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) will affect vaioa of business acquisitions made in
2009 and forward.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160 tdotrolling Interest in Consolidated Financial 8taents — an Amendment of ARB
51.” SFAS 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling irst in a subsidiary is an ownership interest exdbnsolidated entity that should be reported
as equity in the consolidated financial statemetitalso requires consolidated net income to Ipented at amounts that include the amounts
attributable to both the parent and the noncomtlinterest, and requires disclosure, on the éddbe consolidated statement of income, of
amounts of consolidated net income attributabléa¢éoparent and to the noncontrolling interest. SABO is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, begimmnon or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adopsgrohibited. We do not anticipate a
material impact upon adoption.

In March 2008, the FSAB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disares about Derivative Instruments and Hedgingviiets.” SFAS 161 is intended to
improve financial reporting about derivative instrents and hedging activities by requiring enhardisdosures to enable investors to better
understand their effects on an entity's financaditpon, financial performance, and cash flows ASHA61 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years and interim periods begigrafter November 15, 2008, with early applicagémeouraged. We do not anticipate a
material impact upon adoption.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15if Yrdue Measurements.” SFAS 157 defines fair gakstablishes a framework for
measuring fair value, and expends disclosures dboutalue measurements. SFAS 157 applies unitier accounting pronouncements that
require or permit fair value measurements and doesequire any new fair value measurements. Tbeigions of SFAS 157 were originally

to be effective beginning January 1, 2008. Subs=etly the FASB provided for a one-year deferraiha&f provisions of SFAS 157 for non-
financial assets and liabilities that are recogmiaedisclosed at fair value in consolidated finahstatements on a non-recurring basis. We are
currently evaluating the input of adopting the psmns of SFAS 157 for nofinancial assets and liabilities that are recogthiaedisclosed on
non-recurring basis.

NOTE 3 LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

All marketable debt and equity securities thatiackuded in long-term investments are consideretdlable-for-sale and are carried at fair
value. The unrealized gains and losses relatdtete securities are included in accumulated atiprehensive income (loss). When
securities are sold, their cost is determined basetthe first-in first-out method. The realizedrgaand losses related to these securities are
included in other income in the statements of ajara.

The following is a summary of our long-term investmts as of December 31, 2008:

Fair Market
Cost al Value at
December 31 Unrealized = December 3!
2008 (Loss) 2008
Auction Rate Municipal Bond $ 2,550,000 $ (395,25() $ 2,154,75
Auction Rate Preferred Stoi 275,14: (13,524 261,61¢
Total Lon+-Term Investment $ 282514 $ (408,779 $ 2,416,36

For the year ended December 31, 2008 there weriealigains or losses recognized on the sale ofsimvents. In November 2008 we
received, in a settlement from UBS AG (“UBS”"), riglwhich allow us to put back the auction rate gées at par value to UBS. We expect to
liquidate these investments at par no later thaie 2010, in the meantime they continue to pay ésteat various rates. We also have the a

to borrow up to 75% of the loan-to-market valueslifible auction rate securities on a no-net casid As of December 31, 2008, we have
borrowed $1,650,720 under the agreement, with ditiadal $468,030 of borrowings available under iggeement.

The Company reviews these investments on a qualiasis to determine if it is probable that the @amny will realize some portion of the
unrealized loss in accordance with SFAS No. 118,F8P No. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meanin@tbfer-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investisghand to determine the classification of the @&inment as temporary or other-than-
temporary. In determining if the difference betwesost and estimated fair value of the auctiom saturities was deemed either temporary or
other-than-temporary impairment, the Company evatlaach type of long-term investment using a Betiteria including decline in value,
duration of the decline, period until anticipatedavery, nature of investment, probability of reexqy financial condition and near-term
prospects of the issuer, the Company’s intent &ildyeto retain the investment, attributes of thecline in value, status with rating agencies,
status of principal and interest payments and angrassues related to the underlying securitié® Company determined the decline in the
fair values in all of the investments in the auctiate securities were temporary as of Decembe2@®18, primarily based on estimated cash
flows of the investments, the settlement agreeraptdred into with UBS, and the Company’s abilitg ament to hold such investments until
settlement.
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NOTE4 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment at December 31, 2008 and, 20dsisted of the following:

December 31

2008 2007
Oil and Gas Properties, Full Cost Mett

Unevaluated Costs, Not Subject to AmortizatioiCeiling Test $ 42,621,29 $ 7,587,551
Evaluated Cosl 13,059,27 -
55,680,56 7,587,511
Office Equipment, Furniture, Leasehold Improvementd Software 408,40( 44,76¢
56,088,96 7,632,28!

Less: Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion, and Aipation
Property and Equipment 856,01( 3,44¢
Total $ 5523295 $ 7,628,83

The following table shows depreciation, depletiang amortization expense by type of asset:

Year Ended December 3

2008 2007
Depletion of Costs for Evaluated Oil and Gas Pripe $ 785,50 -
Depreciation of Office Equipment, Furniture, andt®are 67,06( 3,44¢
Total Depreciation, Depletion, and AmortipatiExpense $ 852,56: $ 3,44¢

NOTE 5 OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES

Acquisitions
Montana Acquisitiot

In February 2007, the Company acquired leasehtddests in approximately 22,000 net mineral aareédhieridan County, Montana. The
Company paid a combination of cash and stock asideration for such acquisition, including the msce of an aggregate of 400,000 restr|
shares of its common stock.

North Dakota Acquisition

At various points in late 2007 and throughout 288, Company acquired leasehold interests in appately 21,498 net mineral acres of land
via bulk purchases in the core development arddafntrail County, North Dakota. The Company paitbanbination of cash and stock as
consideration for such acquisitions, including if®iance of an aggregate of 633,027 restricteesludrits common stock. In addition to these
major acquisitions the Company completed a sefissall transactions pursuant to which it purchdsedehold interests in approximately
8,000 net mineral acres in Mountrail County.

On June 11, 2008, the Company entered into a psechgreement pursuant to which it ultimately aeguleasehold interests in approximately
23,210 net mineral acres primarily in Dunn Cougrth Dakota. The Company also completed varialgdit®mnal acquisitions of oil and gas
leasehold interests through numerous small traiosectvith several parties in fiscal years 2007 2008.

At various points in 2007 and 2008, the Companylpased leasehold interests in approximately 10n@d@nineral acres in and around Burke
and Divide Counties of North Dakota for cash coesation.

The Company has also completed other miscellaneomisnaterial acquisitions in North Dakota, andizeidl a combination of stock and cash
consideration for some of the acquisitions.
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New York Acquisitiol

In September 2007, the Company acquired leasehtdests in approximately 10,000 net mineral airréise Appalachia Basin of New
York. The Company paid a combination of cash dodksas consideration for such acquisition, inahgdihe issuance of an aggregate of
275,000 restricted shares of its common stock.

Certain of the foregoing acquisitions were purchassing the services of, or purchased from, paciesidered to be related to the Compar
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Michael Leger. See Note 7. All transactions involving tediaparties were approved by the
Company’s Board of Directors or Audit Committee @he Company obtained independent verificatiorheffairness of consideration paid in
each transaction.

NOTE 6 PREFERRED AND COMMON STOCK
The Company has neither authorized nor issued lzames of preferred stock.

In October 2006, the Company began a private plao¢wffering of a maximum of 4,000,000 shares &de $or $1.05 (the “Offering”). A
minimum of 2,000,000 shares was needed to closkeo®ffering. The Offering was a private placemaade under Rule 506 promulgated
under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Act”), asearded. The securities offered and sold (or dedméeé offered and sold, in the case of
underlying shares of common stock) in the Offetiage been registered for resale under the Act &ctafber 10, 2007. On February 1, 2007,
the Offering closed with $2,626,652 being raised 2/501,573 common shares being issued.

On May 3, 2007, the Company issued 100,000 shémesnomon stock to Insight Capital Consultants Coation pursuant to a consulting

agreement with them. The stock issued was valt&d#5,000 and expensed to general and administratpense. The shares were valued
based on the market price of the Company’s stodkerate of issuance.
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In September 2007, the Company completed a prplatement of 4,545,455 shares of common stockdedited investors at a subscription
price of $3.30 per share for total gross proceédi5,000,002. In addition to common stock, ingestpurchasing shares in the private
placement received a warrant to purchase commahk.steor each share of common stock purchasedsrrtinsaction, the purchaser received
the right to purchase one-half share of the Comsasgmmon stock at a price of $5.00 per share foeréod of 18 months from the date of
closing and the right to purchase one-half shataefCompany’s common stock at a price of $6.0@fperiod of 48 months from the date of
closing. FIG Partners, LLC Energy Research andt@ldpartners served as the exclusive placememttdgewhich it received consideration
cash and warrants. The total number of sharesateassuable upon exercise of warrants, incluthiegplacement agent's warrant is
4,818,183. All warrants issued as part of thisgte placement were exercised in 2008. In addifmur of our founders executed restriction
agreements under which they agree not to sell sirdrieeneficial interest in the Company for a peié 18 months from the closing of this
private placement, except under certain limitedwinstances. Approximately 13,289,000 shares ohoamstock are subject to the lock-up
agreement.

In November 2007, the Company issued 73,500 slwdirgmmmon stock to various consultants pursuaobtesulting agreements. The
company also issued 75,000 shares of common stoeployee Chad Winter pursuant to a written empleyt agreement. These 148,500
shares were valued at $769,230 at the time of ieguand expensed as general and administrativengape The shares were valued at the
calculated fair value of the Company’s stock ondhte of the issuance.

In December 2007, Mike Reger and Ryan Gilbertsah exercised 500,000 stock options granted to fhe2006.

In 2008 optionees exercised 260,000 stock optioastgd in 2006 and 2007, resulting in cash proceettee Company of $933,800. A tax
benefit of $425,000 related to fully vested stopkian awards exercised was recorded as an incteashlitional paid-in capital

Restricted Stock Awards

In March 2008, the Company issued 20,000 sharesstricted common stock to employee James Sankpuitaiant to a written employment
agreement. The issuance of restricted stockemnded to retain and motivate the employee. Thevédile of the award was $140,500 or $7
share, the average market value of a share of Can8tark on the date the stock was issued. The/disie will be expensed over the oyear
of the award. The Company expensed $105,375 defatthis award in the year ended December 31, .20@8ting of the shares is continge
the employee maintaining employment with the Conypamd other restrictions included in the employmegreement.

NOTE 7 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has purchased leasehold interestsSouth Fork Exploration, LLC (SFE). SFE’s presidieni.R. Reger, the brother of the
Company’s CEO, Michael Reger. J.R. Reger is alslsaaeholder in the Company. See Note 5.

The Company has also purchased leasehold intéresisMOP. MOP is controlled by Mr. Tom Ryan and.Nteven Reger, both are relatives
of the Company’s CEO, Michael Reger. See Note 5.

The Company has also purchased leasehold intéresisGallatin Resources, LLC. Carter Stewart, ohBIOG's directors, owns a 25%
interest in Gallatin Resources, LLC.

All transactions involving related parties were ap@d by the Company’s Board of Directors or A@itmmittee and the Company obtained
independent verification of the fairness of congatien paid in each transaction.
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NOTE8 STOCK OPTIONS/STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company’s Board of Directors approved a stqatioa plan in October 2006 (“2006 Stock Option P)an provide incentives to
employees, directors, officers, and consultantswamer which 2,000,000 shares of common stock baea reserved for issuance. The opt
can be either incentive stock options or non-stayustock options and are valued at the fair mavkéte of the stock on the date of grant. The
exercise price of incentive stock options may retdss than 100% of the fair market value of telssubject to the option on the date of the
grant and, in some cases, may not be less than d18&%ch fair market value. The exercise pricaai-statutory options may not be less than
100% of the fair market value of the stock on th&edf grant. On December 15, 2006, 1,100,00@pptivere granted at a price of $1.05 per
share. 500,000 options were granted to each Miékeger and Ryan Gilbertson, and 100,000 optiorre\geanted to Douglas Polinsky. As
stated above, these options have an exercisegri&e05 per share. These options became fulliedesn December 15, 2007. All options
granted in 2006 have been exercised as of DeceBih@008.

On November 1, 2007 the Board of Directors graateadditional 560,000 of options under this 20@&EOption Plan. The Company
granted 500,000 options in aggregate, to membetsedioard and 60,000 options to one employee patda an employment

agreement. These options were granted at a pris®. 88 per share and the optionees were fullyegesh the grant date. 160,000 options
granted in 2007 have been exercised as of DeceBih@008.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatideruhe provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), “Share BaBayment.” This statement
requires us to record an expense associated vatfathvalue of stock-based compensation. We atlgreise the Black-Scholes option
valuation model to calculate stock-based compemsati the date of grant. Option pricing modelaunegthe input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the expected price volgtili€hanges in these assumptions can materialigttie fair value estimate. The total fair
value of the options will be recognized as compgosaver the vesting period (see Note 2 for calttah of fair value). The Company
received no cash consideration for these optiontgraThere have been no stock options grante808 2nder the 2006 Stock Option Plan,
all exercises of options during 2008 related tomppieriod grants.

The following table presents the impact on ourestegnt of operations of stock-based compensatioaresefor the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007:

Year Ended December &

2008 2007
Expense! $ - 2,366,41
Stocl-Based Compensation Expense Before Ti - 2,366,41
Income tax benef - -
Stock-Based Compensation Expense After Taxes $ - $ 2,366,41
Changes in stock options for the years ended DeeeB1h 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
2007: Weighted Remaining
Number Average Contractual
of Exercise Term (in Intrinsic
Shares Price Years) Value
Beginning Balanc 1,100,001 $ -
Granted 560,00( 5.1¢ -
Exercisec 1,000,001 1.0t -
Outstanding at December 660,00( 4.5¢ 9.7 1,581,20
Exercisable 660,00( 4.5t 9.7 1,581,20
Ending Vested 660,00( 4.5t 1,581,20
Weighted average fair value of
options granted during year
$ 2.72
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2008:

Beginning Balanc 660,000 $ = -
Granted - - -
Exercisec 260,00( 3.5¢ -
Outstanding at December 400,00( 5.1¢ 8.8 -
Exercisable 400,00( 5.1¢ 8.8 -
Ending vested 400,00( 5.1¢ 8.8 -

Weighted average fair value
options granted during year

Currently Outstanding Options
« No options were forfeited during the years endeddbeber 31, 2008 and 20(
« The company recorded compensation expense relatdese options of $2,366,417 for the year endezkdber 31, 2007. There
no further compensation expense that will be reizaghin future years, relating to all options thave been granted as of Decen
31, 2008, since the entire fair value compensatasbeen recognized during 2006 and 2

NOTE 9 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The company has asset retirement obligations agsdcivith the future plugging and abandonment o¥@d properties and related

facilities. Under the provisions of SFAS 143, thi value of a liability for an asset retiremetligation is recorded in the period in which it is
incurred and a corresponding increase in the aagrgmount of the related long lived asset. Thaillts is accreted to its present value each
period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated theeuseful life of the related asset. If thdilidy is settled for an amount other than the
recorded amount, a gain or loss is recognized.

The company has no assets that are legally restriot purposes of settling asset retirement otitiga. The following table summarizes the
company's asset retirement obligation transactiecsrded in accordance with the provisions of SBEAS during the year ended December 31,
2008.

Beginning Asset Retirement Obligati $ >
Liabilities Incurred for New Wells Placed in Prodioo 60,40"
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obligas 1,03(
Ending Asset Retirement Obligation $ 61,43’
NOTE 10 INCOME TAXES

The Company utilizes the asset and liability appho® measuring deferred tax assets and liabiliteesed on temporary differences existing at
each balance sheet date using currently enactedtiesin accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounforgncome Taxes” Deferred tax asse
are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in gieion of management, it is more likely than natteome portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. Deferred tax asseldiahilities are adjusted for the effects of chesin tax laws and rates on the date of
enactment.
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The components of the benefit for income taxes are:
For the Perio(
from Inceptior
(October 5,
2006) througt
Years Ended December 31, December 31

2008 2007 2006
Current Income Taxe $ - $ - $ -
Deferred Income Taxe
Federa (715,000 - -
State (158,00() - -
Total Benefit $ (873,000 $ - $ -

The following is a reconciliation of the reportesh@unt of income tax expense (benefit) for the yeaded December 31, 2008 and 2007 to the
amount of income tax expenses that would resuth fapplying the statutory rate to pretax income.

Reconciliation of reported amount of income taxenge:

2008 2007 2006

Income (Loss) Before Taxes and Nt 1,486,75. $ (4,305,29) $ (76,107
Federal Statutory Rate X 34% X 34% X25%
Taxes (Benefit) Computed at Federal Statutory | 505,00( (1,460,001 (19,029
State Taxes (Benefit), Net of Federal Ta 104,00( - -
Effects of:
Permanent and Other Differenc (2,000 (12,34) 11,36¢
Increase (Decrease) in Valuation (1,480,000 1,472,34. 7,65¢

Reported Provision (Benefit) (873,000 $ - 9 -

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has @peeating loss carryforward for Federal incomeparposes of $8,726,000 and
$1,950,000, respectively, which expires in varyamgounts during the tax years 2027 and 2028.

The components of the Company’s deferred tax aasetdiabilities are as follows:
December 31

2008 2007
Deferred Tax Assel
Current:
Share Based Compensat| $ 774,000 $ 815,00(
Unrealized Investment Loss 168,00( -
Accrued Payrol 520,00( -
Current 1,462,001 815,00(
Nor-Current
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards (NOI 3,588,00! 665,00(
Depletion 257,00( -
Sale of Land Lease Rights 117,00( -
Non-Current 3,962,00! 665,00(
Total Deferred Tax Asse 5,424,00! 1,480,001
Less: Valuation Allowanc - (1,480,001
Net Deferred Tax Asset $ 5,424,000 $ -
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Deferred Tax Liabilities

Current:
Other $ (29,000 $ =
Curren (29,000 -
Nor-Current
Fixed Asset: (931,001) -
Dry Well Write Off (36,000 -
Intangible Drilling Costs (2,962,000 -
Nor-Current (3,929,001 -
Net Deferred Tax Liability (3,958,000 -
Total Deferred Tax Asset (Liability $ 1,466,000 $ -
Deferred Tax Assets (Liability
Current Portior $ 1,433,000 $ -
Lon¢-Term Portior $ 33,000 $ -

A valuation allowance is provided when it is mdkely than not that all or some portion of the defd tax assets will not be realized. At
December 31, 2007, a valuation allowance was magdeon the Company’s deferred tax assets singevieee not more likely than not to be
realized. This assessment was made based oni¢astaetivity and the results of operations as eEBmber 31, 2007. In 2008, using objective
and verifiable data, which became available dutiregfourth quarter, the Company calculated thailitutilize the existing deferred tax

assets. As a result, the Company has determiaé taluation allowance is no longer necessarijtsateferred tax assets and the valuation
allowance was released as of December 31, 2008.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No'‘A&ounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, amdelrpretation of FASB Statement No.
109” (FIN 48). We adopted FIN 48 on January 1,200nder FIN 48, tax benefits are recognized dohtax positions that are more likely
than not to be sustained upon examination by téxogities. The amount recognized is measuredefatigest amount of benefit that is greater
than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultinsgttlement. Unrecognized tax benefits are taefisrclaimed in our tax returns that do not
meet these recognition and measurement standards.

Upon the adoption of FIN 48, we had no liabilittes unrecognized tax benefits and, as such, thetaohad no impact on our financial
statements, and we have recorded no additionakstter penalties. The adoption of FIN 48 did ingiact our effective tax rates.

Our policy is to recognize potential interest ametdgties accrued related to unrecognized tax bisneiihin income tax expense. For the year
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, we did not rézmgny interest or penalties in our Statementér@tions, nor did we have any interest
or penalties accrued in our Balance Sheet at DeeeBih 2008 and 2007 relating to unrecognized ltsnef

The tax years 2007 and 2006 remain open to exaimintar federal income tax purposes and by theratiegor taxing jurisdictions to which
we are subject.

NOTE 11 OPERATING LEASES

Vehicles

The Company leases vehicles under noncancelabtatogeleases. Total rent expense under the agnetsnwas approximately $31,000 and

$22,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008 @did, 2espectively.
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Minimum future lease payments under these vehiaesds are as follows:

Year Ending

December 31, Amount
2009 $ 52,00(
2010 41,00(
2011 20,00(

To $ 113,00(

Building

Effective February 2008, the Company entered intoerating lease agreement to lease 3,044 srtreffoffice space. The lease requires
initial gross monthly lease payments of $11,416e monthly payments increase by 4% on each anainedsite. The lease expires in
December 2012. Total rent expense under the agretenas approximately $114,000 for the year endecebhber 31, 2008.

The Company was required to prepay $68,490, teedix months rent. Minimum future lease paymeniger the building lease are as
follows:

Year Ending

December 31, Amount
2009 $ 142,45¢
2010 148,15:
2011 154,08
2012 160,23t

To $ 604,93:

The Company received $91,320 of landlord incentiveder the lease agreement. The Company has estardeferred rent liability for this
amount that is being amortized over the term of¢hse.

Prior to this lease the Company was paying $1,268 month-to-month lease.

NOTE 12 FAIR VALUE

SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framkvi@rmeasuring fair value under generally acceptetbunting principles and enhances
disclosures about fair value measurements. Faieva defined under SFAS 157 as the exchange tiratevould be received for an asset or
paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in thancipal or most advantageous market for thetawsiability in an orderly transaction between
market participants on the measurement date. Valutechniques used to measure fair value und&SSE57 must maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unob&ésvaputs. The standard describes a fair valaeahthy based on three levels of inputs, of
which the first two are considered observable &edadst unobservable, that may be used to meaaiuneafue which are the following:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for idaitassets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Inputs other than Level 1 that are obable, either directly or indirectly, such as quopeides for similar assets of liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or otheuigphat are observable or can be corroboratedbgroable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supportelitty or no market activity and that are signéfitt to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
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The following schedule summarizes the valuatiofirancial instruments measured at fair value oecairring basis in the balance sheet as of
December 31, 2008.

Quoted Price

In Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservabl
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Long-Term Investments (See Note 3) $ - $ - $ 2,416,36

Level 3 assets consist of municipal bonds andifigatate preferred stock (see Note 3) with an anatéset feature (“auction rate securities” or
ARS). The underlying assets for the municipal soark student loans which are substantially babketie federal government. Auction-rate
securities are long-term floating rate bonds oatileg rate perpetual preferred stock tied to steri interest rates. After the initial issuance of
the securities, the interest rate on the secuigiesset periodically, at intervals establishethattime of issuance (primarily every twenty-eight
days), based on market demand for a reset peAadtion-rate securities are bought and sold inntlaeketplace through a competitive bidding
process often referred to as a “Dutch auction’théfre is insufficient interest in the securitieshe time of an auction, the auction may not be
completed and the rates may be reset to predetedmipenalty” or “maximum” rates based on mathenstiermulas in accordance with each
security's prospectus.

In February 2008, auctions began to fail for theseurities and each auction since then has falsthsequently, the investments are not
currently liquid. In the event the Company neettedccess these funds, they are not expecteddodassible until one of the following occt

a successful auction occurs, the issuer redeenissihe, a buyer is found outside of the auctiorcgse or the underlying securities mature. In
October 2008, the Company received an offer (thi&e'tQ from UBS AG (“UBS”), one of its investmentgviders, to sell at par value auction-
rate securities originally purchased from UBS (88,843) at anytime during a two-year period begignlune 30, 2010. The Offer was non-
transferable and expired on November 14, 2008. Ctoliar 28, the Company elected to participate énQiffer. Based on this, along with the
underlying maturities of the securities, a portadnwhich is greater than 30 years, we have class#iuction rate securities as long-term assets
on our balance sheet. In addition to the Offer3U8 providing no net cost loans up to 75% of trentto-market value of eligible auction rate
securities until June 30, 2010.

Typically, the fair value of ARS investments apprates par value due to the frequent resets thrtheyhuction process. While the Company
continues to earn interest on its ARS investmeitiseacontractual rate, these investments areuroetly trading and therefore do not have a
readily determinable market value. Accordingle #stimated fair value of the ARS no longer apprates par value. At December 31, 2008,
the Company’s investment advisors provided a vedodiased on Level 3 inputs for the ARS investmeiiiise investment advisors utilized a
discounted cash flow approach to arrive at thisatibn. The assumptions used in preparing the diged cash flow model include estimates
of, based on data available as of December 31,,20@8est rates, timing and amount of cash flawsdit and liquidity premiums, and
expected holding periods of the ARS. These assomgpare volatile and subject to change as theryidg sources of these assumptions and
market conditions change. Based on this Levell@aimn, the Company valued the ARS investmen$2at16,369, which represents a decline
in value of $408,774 from par.

Although there is uncertainty with regard to therstierm liquidity of these securities, the Compaoytinues to believe that the carrying value
represents the fair value of these marketable gEsubecause of the overall quality of the undedyinvestments and the anticipated future
market for such investments. In addition, the Canyphas the intent and ability to hold these sé&esruntil the earlier of: the market for
auction rate securities stabilizes, the issuenagiftes the underlying security, a buyer is fourtdida of the auction process at acceptable t
the underlying securities have matured or the Compacepts the investment manager’s offer to redbensecurities.
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Based on the cash balance of $780,716, the exppotgiive operating cash flows, and the Companpiktsa to obtain no net cost loans up to
75% of the loan-tonarket value, as determined by UBS, on eligibleianaate securities, the Company does not antieitige current inabilit
to liquidate the auction rate securities to advgraffect the Company’s ability to conduct its uess.

The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances for the assetsurezhat fair value using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting

Date Using

Significant Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)
Level 3 Financial Assets
Balance at January 1, 20 $ =
Purchase 3,800,52.
Unrealized Loss Included in Other Comprehensiverme (Loss (141,079
Balance at March 31, 20( 3,659,45!
Sales/Maturitie: (250,000
Unrealized Loss Included in Other Comprehensivermne (Loss) (20,100
Balance at June 30, 20 3,389,35!
Unrealized Loss Included in Other Comprehensiverme (Loss' (68,375
Balance at September 30, 2( 3,320,97!
Sales/Maturitie: (725,000
Realized Loss on Sales/Maturiti (381
Unrealized Loss Included in Other Comprehensiverme (Loss' (179,225
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 2,416,36!
NOTE 13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company’s non-derivative financial instrumentdude cash and cash equivalents, accounts rdsej\accounts payable and line of credit.
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivaleatsets receivable, accounts payable, and lineadfittapproximate fair value because of
their immediate or short-term maturities.

The Company’s accounts receivable relate to oilraatdral gas sold to various industry companiesedi€terms, typical of industry standards,

are of a short-term nature and the Company doereqatre collateral. The Company’s accounts reddiy at December 31, 2008 and 2007 do
not represent significant credit risks as theydispersed across many counterparties.
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NOTE 14 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTSAND PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company utilizes commodity swap and option ians to (i) reduce the effects of volatility iriger changes on the oil commodities it
produces and sells, (ii) reduce commodity prick a@isd (iii) provide a base level of cash flow.

Crude Oil Derivative Contracts Cash-flow Hedges

The Company's cash-flow hedges consisted of crildetores contracts. The Company hedged 20,00fza0f production thru the end of
2008 at approximately $105 per barrel of oil. Thatracts were used to establish floor prices dicipated future oil production. There were
no net premiums received or paid when the Compatsred into these contracts. At settlement anzeghgains or losses are recorded as
(loss) on derivatives, net, as an increase or dser revenue on the statement of operations.

All cash flow hedges were settled during 2008 dnr@dGompany reported a gain on derivatives of $B8i8 revenues. As of the end of 2008,
no production has been hedged into 2009 or beyadtithugh it is expected that the Company will coné to enter into hedges concerning
anticipated future oil production.

Crude Oil Derivative Contracts Investment Vehicles
The Company held derivative positions in the fofmvdtten call options that were not designatededges. These positions were entered into
as investment vehicles. Also, futures contracs thinnot be matched with production for cash th@dges were included as investment
vehicles.

The following table provides a summary of the imp@at earnings from these nondesignated derivatweracts. Future contracts settled and
expiration of written call options were recordec#ser income, for the years ended December 317 26d 2008:

Year Ended December ¢
2008 2007

Increase in earnings due to settlement or expiraifalerivatives entered into as investment
vehicles $ 123,53t -

There are no investment vehicle positions heldf &egember 31, 2007 and 2008.

NOTE 15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of the numerasord denominator used to calculate basic earningshage and diluted earnings per share for
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
Net Per Net Per Net Per
Income Shares Share Loss Shares Share Loss Shares Share
Basic EPS $2,359,75 31,920,74% 0.0 $(4,305,29: 23,667,11 _$(0.18 $ (76,107 18,000,00 _$(0.01)
Dilutive effect of
options - 732,80 - - - -
Diluted EPS $2,359,75 32,65355% 0.0 $(4,305,29: 23,667,11 $(0.18 $ (76,107 18,000,00 $(0.01

For the year ended December 31, 2008, optionsrithpee 7,476 shares of common stock were not camesidn calculating diluted earnings
per share because the exercise prices were gtleatethe average market price of common shareagithie year and, therefore, the effect
would be anti-dilutive.
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NOTE 16 COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Company follows the provisions of SFAS No. I¥kporting Comprehensive Income,” which estabkssndards for reporting
comprehensive income. In addition to net inconoeprehensive income includes all changes in eqluiting a period, except those resulting
from investments and distributions to stockholdg#rthe Company.

For the periods indicated, comprehensive incomgsfloonsisted of the following:

For the Perioc
from Inceptior
(October 5,
2006) througt
Years Ended December 31, December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Net Income (Loss $ 2,359,75. $ (4,305,29) $ (76,107
Unrealized Losses on Marketable Securi
(net of tax of $168,000) (240,77.) - -
Comprehensive Income (Loss) $ 211897 $ (4,305,29) $ (76,107
NOTE 17 QUARTERLY RESULTS OF ®ERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly data for the years ended December 318 26d 2007 is as follows:

Quarter Ende:

March 31, June 30 September 3( December 3
2008:
Revenue $ 287,02¢ $ 764,52¢ $ 1,362,65 $ 1,907,66
Expense: 570,57 576,48 645,95 1,426,001
Income (Loss) from Operatiol (283,54¢) 188,04: 716,69¢ 481,66
Other Income 96,26¢ 95,42« 155,12: 37,071
Income Tax Provision (Benefi - - - (873,000)
Net Income (Loss (187,27°) 283,46! 871,81¢ 1,391,74
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh- Basic and
Diluted (0.03) 0.01 0.0 0.0
2007:
Revenue $ - % - $ - $ -
Expense:! 297,71¢ 894,72( 309,48 3,011,26:
Loss from Operation (297,719 (894,72() * (309,48) (3,011,26)
Other Income 10,13: 13,66( 42,18¢ 141,91
Income Tax Expens - - - -
Net Loss (287,58¢) (881,06() * (267,29)) (2,869,34)
Net Loss Per Common She- Basic and Dilutet (0.01) (0.09 * (0.01) (0.10

*  The second quarter 2007 financial statements wadjusted, from what was reported, as the compargimgsd stock it had previous
issued to Ibis Consulting Group, LL
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NOTE 18 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 27, 2009, the company entered inte@viag credit facility with CIT Capital USA, IndCIT) that will provide up to a maximum
principal amount of $25 million of working capitar exploration and production operations. Thertwing base of funds available under the
Facility will be redetermined semi-annually bas@pdmthe net present value, discounted at 10% parmanof the future net revenues expected
to accrue from its interests in proved reserveimaséd to be produced from its oil and gas propsrti$11 million of financing is initially
available under the Facility. An additional $14lion of financing could become available upon sdsent borrowing base redeterminations
based on the deployment of funds from the Facilithe Facility is subject to certain covenants eonttains a floating interest rate. The
Facility terminates on February 27, 2012.

F-26




Exhibit No.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
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EXHIBIT 23.1

MANTYLA MCREYNOLDS LLC
178 South Rio Grande Street, Suite 200
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
Telephone: 801.269.1818
Facsimile: 801.266.3481

The Board of Directors
Northern Qil and Gas, Inc

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referendeegistration Statement No. 333-148333 on ForBrehd Registration Statement N
333-146596 and 333-143648 on Form 3Bf Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. of our report daiégch 16, 2009, with respect to the balance s
of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (formerly Kentex Béum, Inc.), an exploration stage company, as efdinber 31, 2008 and 2007, and
related statements of operations, stockholderstyegnd other comprehensive income, and cash flimwvgach of the years in the thrgea
period ended December 31, 2008 and the effectigenksnternal control over financial reporting as@ecember 31, 2008, which ref
appears in the December 31, 2008 annual reporbon EO-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc.

/s/ Mantyla McReynolds LL

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 16, 2009







EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Michael L. Reger, Chief Executive Officer of Nbern Oil and Gas, Inc., certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the year en@etember 31, 200t

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessan
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ntadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this refpdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assargegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atarece with generally accepted accounting princjj

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslassire controls and procedures and presentedsimethort our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in this report any change in the regmitsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repos tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) antalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financii
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaumnmittee of registrant's board of directorsgersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknésthe design or operation of internal control ofieancial reporting which ar
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and itefmaincial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 16, 200 By: /s/Michael L. Rege

Michael L. Rege
Chief Executive Office







EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Ryan R. Gilbertson, Chief Financial Officer obihern Oil and Gas, Inc., certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the year en@etember 31, 200t

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessan
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this refpdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assargegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atarece with generally accepted accounting princjj

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslassire controls and procedures and presentedsimethort our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in this report any change in the regmitsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repos tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) antalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financii
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaumnmittee of registrant's board of directorsgersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknésthe design or operation of internal control ofieancial reporting which ar
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and itefmaincial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 16, 200 By: /s/ Ryan R. Gilbertso

Ryan R. Gilbertsol
Chief Financial Office







EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Northerrd &id Gas, Inc., (the “Company”) on Form K(for the period ended Decem
31, 2008, as filed with the United States Secwiied Exchange Commission on the date hereof,“Rbport”), each of the undersign
officers of the Company hereby certifies, pursuant8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuanettidh 906 of the Sarban&xley Act o
2002, that to the best of his knowledge:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseétion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations
the Company

Date: March 16, 200¢ By: /s/ Michael L. Rege

Michael L. Reger
Chief Executive Officer and Directt

Date: March 16, 200¢ By: /s/ Ryan R. Gilbertso

Ryan R. Gilbertsol
Chief Financial Officer and Directt

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2882 been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company andished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts etaff upon request.







